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‑‑‑ Upon commencing 9:38 a.m.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 3; RESUMED


Tom Ladanyi; Previously Sworn.


Joel Denomy; Previously Sworn.

Irene Chan; Previously Sworn

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Aiken.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. AIKEN [continued]:

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Good morning, panel.


I will be continuing with the use of Exhibit K4.6, and I am starting at page 28 of that document.  That's the page that has the average use shown on it in figure 1, residential normalized average use.


On the previous page of that evidence, it states that the average annual reduction over the 1995 through 2005 period is 1.2 percent.  Now, does that 2005 figure of 2,779 -- is that an actual figure?


MS. CHAN:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  On page 30 of 65, paragraph 12, about half way through, there is a sentence that begins with "together".  I will just read it:

"Together with increasing gas prices in 2006 which were higher than the increase that occurred in 2001..." 


I will stop there for a moment.  Can you provide the residential and commercial price increase in 2001?  That figure is not shown in the driver tables.  Those driver tables I believe begin in 2002.


MS. CHAN:  On the other hand, if you want to look at 2001 prices, if you can, just to see the year-over-year percentage change, if you turn to Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 12.


MR. AIKEN:  Sorry, which page?


MS. CHAN:  Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 1.  If you look at table 7, and you can get some kind of an -- in terms of a magnitude of percentage change between 2001 and 2000.  And these numbers were filed in the previous year's exhibit, such that you can see, when you look at figure 1, 2005 was even higher than 2001.  And we all know 2006 will be even higher than 2005.


MR. AIKEN:  Back on page 28 -- or, sorry, the remainder of that paragraph on page 30:

"Forecasts of higher real natural gas prices in 2007 will continue to drive a decrease in the average use in 2007 at a similar trend as experienced in the 2001 to 2005 actuals."


Now, you detailed that 2001 to 2005 number back on the top of page 28, where you indicate that it's a decrease of 1.8 percent per year over that period.


Can you tell me how you calculated that number?


MS. CHAN:  Okay.  As explained in that exhibit, all these basically -- price impact was calculated based upon general service average use regression model.


MR. AIKEN:  Sorry, I am not talking about the regression model.  I am talking about the 1.8 percent decrease in average residential use between 2001 and 2005.


MS. CHAN:  Okay.  To calculate that, as you know for average use, is just volume per unlock, and if you turn to Exhibit C5, tab 2, schedule 3, and that can provide you a historical trend, as well as bridge year estimate and test year budget for the average use.  They're on the same degree days basis, and that's how I calculate 1.8 percent.


Exhibit C5, tab 2, schedule 3, if you look at column number 13 and 12, and these are how we calculate minus 1.8 percent.  Those are year‑over‑year percentage change in normalized average use.


MR. AIKEN:  The reason I ask is because when I do the calculation starting with 2001 at 2,940 declining to 2,779 in 2005, I get an average decrease of 1.4 percent rather than 1.8.


MS. CHAN:  If you take the average for -- starting from 2001 percentage and 2005, you will get minus 1.8 percent.  If you start from minus 3.4 percent adding that to minus 0.37 percent, adding that to minus 0.99 percent, and then divide by five years, minus 1.72, and you will get minus basically 1.8 percent change.  


I mean, if you want, we can take undertaking to help you to derive that 1.8 percent, if you are asking how we derive ‑‑


MR. AIKEN:  That would be helpful, because I calculated the average compound rate and it is 1.4 percent, rather than 1.8 percent.


MS. CHAN:  This is just, I mean, the way how we calculate minus 1.8 percent as in the past.  It is just a simple average.  It is just giving you some kind of average change number.  


MR. AIKEN:  If you could give me an undertaking to do that.


MS. CHAN:  Sure, sure.


MR. MILLAR:  J5.1.  Mr. Aiken, can you please summarize the undertaking?


MR. AIKEN:  To provide the information to show the 1.8 percent decline in average use between 2001 and 2005.


UNDERTAKING NO. J5.1:  PROVIDE INFORMATION TO SHOW 


1.8 PERCENT DECLINE IN AVERAGE USE BETWEEN 2001 


AND 2005.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, the graphs at figure 1 and figure 2 on pages 28 and 29, those bridge year estimates are 12‑month forecast figures; right?


MS. CHAN:  Yes, correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Moving on to page 31, and this has to do with the industrial general service customers.  In paragraph 16, about part‑way through, it talks about how you have switched some customers from contract rate.


My question is:  How do you account for these large customers who have switched from a contract rate into the general service rate in 2005 or 2006, with reference to your average use equations?


MS. CHAN:  Okay.  If you can turn to your material on page 35, and if you look at the second line, something called economics gas appliance, there's a footnote A.  Basically, as we say, all of these averages, use general service averages, are based upon objective regression model approach.  


And basically we just based upon our latest actual 2005 actual, if these customers already migrated to Rate 6, and that will be reflected in 2006 bridge year estimate, as well as '07 trend.


And this economics, whatever, will capture the demand for gas appliance, as well as capture historical, actual, average trend of industrial sector average use, such as transfer gains and losses.  


In this situation we did see basically -- based upon our contract customers, we did see the migration going to the general service Rate 6 in 2005 actual, and they were reflected in the actual and certainly based upon regression model, they were also reflected in 2006 estimate and 2007 budget.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, have you forecast any such transfers in 2006?


MS. CHAN:  Based upon the objective regression model for 2006 and 2007, it was just simply based upon the historical trend, what was reflected in 2005 actual.  We didn't want to use any subjective forecasts.


MR. AIKEN:  Mr. Buonaguro touched on -- page 32, table 3, was the subject of an undertaking yesterday, I believe, the gas price number, the 48.6.


I'm wondering if I can get an undertaking for a similar thing for the gas price impacts shown in tables 4, 5 and 6, either individually or in aggregate, of adjusting the real commercial price to reflect actual 2006 and the updated forecast for 2007/2008.  Would that be possible?


MS. CHAN:  Sure, sure. 

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J5.2 and Mr. Aiken to the extent you already haven't described it, can you please do so.  


MR. AIKEN:  I think I would just be repeating myself.  


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, that's fine.  


UNDERTAKING NO. J5.2:  A SIMILAR THING FOR THE GAS 


PRICE IMPACTS SHOWN IN TABLES 4, 5 AND 6, EITHER 


INDIVIDUALLY OR IN AGGREGATE, OF ADJUSTING THE REAL 


COMMERCIAL PRICE TO REFLECT ACTUAL 2006 AND THE 


UPDATED FORECAST FOR 2007/2008.

MR. AIKEN:  Moving on to page 38.  This is the table from Board Staff interrogatory 17.  One clarifying question on column 3, de Bever with trend.  


In your previous rate case, your de Bever with trend turned out to be, I suppose you would call it de Bever with trend only, I believe that the five year weighted average term was removed because it was found not to be significant.  


In this analysis here, that comes down to the $1.6 million, does this include both the trend and the five-year weighted variable, or is it just the trend variable?  


MR. DENOMY:  It includes the trend and the five-year weighted average.  


MR. AIKEN:  Now, your proposal for the 20-year methodology, 20-year trend methodology, is based on two things, I guess, in summary.  One is it’s based on the central weather zone and it is based on the fact that it ranks best over the 1990 through 2005 period.  Is that correct?  


MR. DENOMY:  That's correct.  


MR. AIKEN:  If we look at the eastern and Niagara zones, pages 40 and 41 of 65, in page 40, table 6, which is for the eastern zone, years 1990 through 2005, you have done the same ranking here as you did in the central weather zone; is that correct?  


MR. DENOMY:  That's correct. 


MR. AIKEN:  In this case the Energy Probe methodology ranks first and the 20-year trend ranks sixth?  Is that correct?  


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.  


MR. AIKEN:  On page 41, at the bottom, table 6, Niagara, the best ranking methodology, there is actually a tie between the 10-year moving average and the 50/50, which -- is that the Union methodology?  


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.  


MR. AIKEN:  If the Board were to decide or determine that you should use one of those methodologies that rank first in the Niagara zone, which one would you pick, and why?  


MR. DENOMY:  Just give me one moment, please.  


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. LADANYI:  Mr. Aiken, are you referring to Niagara only whereby this would be the only region?  


MR. AIKEN:  Niagara only, yes. 


MR. LADANYI:  Niagara only?  You would have a separate forecasting methodology for Niagara; that's what you want to know?  


MR. AIKEN:  Yes. 


MR. DENOMY:  Well, we would select the -- we would select the 50/50 method.  


MR. AIKEN:  And is that because it ranks better on accuracy and symmetry?  


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.  


MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.  So I guess we get to my basic question that's been touched on by others, but the question is:  Why are you imposing an inferior forecasting model on eastern, and Niagara regions?  


MR. LADANYI:  We dealt with that yesterday at length of and I think the day before.  We have a franchise that consists of 80 percent of the volume is the central region, 12 percent is eastern region or Ottawa, and 8 percent is Niagara.  So we have a model that does best for the largest population of our customers.  


You are suggesting we should be focussing on the smallest population which is the 8 percent of the total.  That would seem quite unreasonable.  


MR. AIKEN:  Mr. Ladanyi, in the transcript, volume 3, you were replying to Mr. Millar, I believe it was.  I will just read part of your answer here.  


The answer then was: 

"...because we can't have three models, because it's going to be very unwieldy and complicated, we have one that fits 80 percent of our volumes."  


Can you explain to me what is so complicated about having three models instead of one for such an important driver variable?  


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. LADANYI:  Essentially you have the segments volume forecast budget -- a segmented budget is what you would really have to have.   It could be done, it is just going to be a lot of work.


I think as I explained in testimony over the last few days, the practice before this Board, ever since Consumers Gas and Enbridge was in business, is to look at this problem and determine what is the best model to use based on central region data which is 80 percent of the volumes.  We are just continuing something that is practical.  It can be done, with a lot move work and more complications of having a segmented budget and producing more complicated numbers, but it could be done.  


I'm not saying it is not feasible.  It certainly could be done.  But it is going to require more work and more complications, and so this is an area where I would say a business decision was made and a practical decision that the Board has acceptable over the years and we have continued it.  


MR. AIKEN:  Would you agree that the Board could decide that it's more appropriate to use the best methodology for each of your three areas? 


MR. LADANYI:  The Board could well decide that and the Board would be certainly appropriate, if that's what the Board feels is the right thing to do, we will have to do it.  


MR. AIKEN:  In terms of the extra work, what extra work would you have to do to come up with a forecast for eastern and Niagara degree days that has not already been done through the compilation of the data for all of the ranking that you have done already?  


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. LADANYI:  We're kind of puzzled by your question.  You're asking us what kind of calculations we would do, or explain our office procedures?  It would be more spreadsheets, more computer programs, more analyst time.  I don't know how to answer this.  


MR. AIKEN:  If it's complicated to add two equations for degree days, why don't you impose, for example, your average residential use-per-customer forecast from the central region and just impose that on the other 20 percent of your volumes?  What's the difference in approach?  


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. LADANYI:  It could be done.  I mean it can be done.  You can have a different weather methodology, for Barrie, another one for Peterborough.  You can truly segment our franchise area into many pieces, and you could justify it in different ways.  It would just be more work.  That's all I was saying.  And it would be more analyst time.  There would be more spreadsheets, more documents presented to the OEB, more analysis.  


At the end of the day, yes, it is doable.  I'm not saying it is not doable.  It is just going to be harder and more complex, that's all.  Perhaps the other side of the equation is you're looking towards more precision and accuracy.  


So somewhere along the way, one has to make a business decision, and what we did is we are following previous decisions of the Board and previous practice that this Board had.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Aiken, I have a question just related to that, if I could.  This may be for Mr. Ladanyi or Mr. Denomy.


On this matter of what bias we get by just looking at the central region, if we go back to the famous graphs that are at C2, tab 4, schedule 1 where you have them for each region, and you have made a fair amount, probably quite properly, that weather patterns are changing.  


You read The Globe and Mail yesterday and we hear it on the radio every morning, and that we are trying to capture this new warming phenomena that we see.


It appears ‑‑ and I'm not sure whether I am making the right statistical conclusion here, but if we look at these three graphs, the degree of warming, or the rate at which degree days are falling, is significantly greater in Toronto than it is in Ottawa and Niagara.


So if you have a model that is based on Toronto and you are trying to capture that drop, as you are, you're going to be under-estimating, are you not, for 80 percent of your market?  The model is going to have that bias -- 20 percent of your market, excuse me.


MR. LADANYI:  Correct.  That's right.


MR. KAISER:  There is definitely going to be a bias, and we know what the bias is.


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. AIKEN:  I am going to go through now the results of using the highest ranked methodology in the eastern and Niagara regions.  This starts on page 43, which is Energy Probe IR No. 9.


These are just some numbers I want you to clarify or take subject to check.  In table 1 - this is for the eastern region - it shows the 2007/2008 forecasts for the different methodologies.


If you did your degree day forecast based on the methodology that ranks best, in this case the Energy Probe methodology for the eastern, the difference between those two bottom lines, the 4,459 and the 4,408, row 7, and the corresponding numbers for '08, I calculate that to be about a 1.2 percent increase when you weight 2007 with 2008 to give you a calendar year.  Would that be about right?


MR. LADANYI:  Did you volume weight that, or how did you do this?


MR. AIKEN:  I just took -- the 2007 increase is 1.1 percent.  2008 is 1.5.  I just took a 75/25 weight to come up with a calendar year 2007 number.


MR. DENOMY:  Okay.  We are comfortable with those numbers, subject to check, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Then to estimate the impact on the volumes - and rest assured I won't ask you to do this ‑ all you would have to do is take that change in degree days and multiply it by the elasticity in each of the equations, and you would come up with a ballpark figure on the change in average use?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. DENOMY:  We are having a little difficulty with your question.  Could you rephrase it, please?


MR. AIKEN:  If I was trying to estimate the impact on average use of the change in degree day methodology forecast and the degree days would be 1.2 percent higher, I could take that number, multiply it by -- for example, if the elasticity for the eastern region industrial is 0.8, I could take that 0.8 times 1.2 and come up with an average use impact of just under 1 percent.


MS. CHAN:  We are trying to understand your question.  If you are trying to understand the year-over-year percentage in normalized average use, whichever methodology you are using is not going to impact the year-over-year percentage change materially.


If you are trying to assess the volumetric impact -- and that's fine.  That would be just basically 12 percent.  If you want to come up with a ballpark number, 12 percent, the volumetric weight based upon the elasticity, you can come up with some type of estimate of volumetric impact.  


I would like to clarify.  If you are trying to assess year-over-year percentage change, that is not correct, because whichever normalization methodology cannot impact year-over-year percentage change materially.


When you look at real consumption change, you should look at normalized basis, which is every year have the same degree days methodology.


MR. AIKEN:  Let me come at this from another way.  If you used the Energy Probe methodology, which has a higher degree day forecast, your average use forecast for 2007 would be higher?


MS. CHAN:  For the level, yes.  For the level, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  My question is:  Approximately how much higher would that average use be in percentage terms?


MS. CHAN:  Okay.  Then I want to also mentioned that if you are trying to look at what I quote at Exhibit C5, tab 2, schedule 3, given that all the years are normalized to the same degree days, so 2007 would be higher, same as 2006.  2006 would also be higher.  


So if you look at normalized year-over-year percentage, it is still minus 1.8 percent.  If you are asking me a different question and asking about the volumetric impact, of course the Board Staff 17 can give you some kind of an estimate for incremental volumetric impact for particular 2007 year.


MR. AIKEN:  Well, I think you are saying is that all of the annual numbers would be higher.


MS. CHAN:  A level number, level number.  Level number.  I want to clarify that, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  That's fine.  Table 2 of that same IR response, page 44, here if we use the Niagara region, the best methodology, the 50/50, the increase in degree days would be in the 1.8, 1.9 percent range; is that correct?


MR. DENOMY:  I will take that subject to check, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you could turn now to page 46 of 65, this is an IR response to Energy Probe.  I am looking specifically at the answer to part (b).


My question here is:  What is the null hypothesis referred to in there?


MR. DENOMY:  The null hypothesis would be the coefficient assigned to the time trend is equal to zero.


MR. AIKEN:  If you wanted a 90 percent level of significance, then you would reject that null hypothesis - i.e., that the co‑efficient would be different than zero - if your probability value was less than or equal to 0.1?


MR. DENOMY:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  In the paragraph under table 2 on page 47, it says:

"From the tables presented above, it is apparent that the Energy Probe model has higher R‑squared statistics, higher t statistics and a higher F statistic than the 20‑year trend model.  However, the 20‑year trend model is a far better predictor of degree days."


What is that conclusion based on?


MR. DENOMY:  It's based on all of the analysis we have done in Exhibit C2, tab 4, schedule 1 and, in this particular case, the forecast of degree days produced by both models for that one particular year.


In fact, if you go back through time - and we have had extensive discussions about this over the past couple of days - you will see that the R‑squared values -- or the adjusted R‑squared values, excuse me, for the 20‑year trend are quite low.  However, when you refer to Exhibit C2, tab 4, schedule 1, page 11, table 6, you can see that in terms of accuracy, symmetry and stability, the 20‑year trend ranks the best.


I think the point I made yesterday was, despite the fact that the 20‑year trend does tend to have slightly lower R‑squared values than some the other models that we have been looking at, that's not the only thing you can look at.  You also have to look at the forecasting properties of each of these models, and that's what we've done.  


The 20‑year trend ranks the best.  R‑squared is not the be all and the end all of whether or not a model is going to be an accurate forecaster of the variable in question. 


MR. AIKEN:  If we look at page 11 of C2, tab 4, schedule 1, table 6, you are basing that at least part in the overall rank that shows that the 20-year trend, one, and Energy Probe number two, and their respective scores are 12 and 15; is that correct?  


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.  


MR. AIKEN:  If I could take you to yesterday's transcript, at page 85.  Right at the top of the page you are replying to a question from Mr. Shepherd.  


Your statement there, Mr. Denomy, is: 

"In the case of a five years, the Energy Probe method performs best, followed closely behind by the 20-year trend." 


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.  


MR. AIKEN:  Now if I could take you back to C2, tab 4, schedule 1, page 12, and table 8, that's the 2001 to 2005 period where the Energy Probe ranks one, and the 20-year trend ranks number two; is that correct?  


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, that's correct.  


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  What I was interested in, was that you characterized this as that the 20-year trend was closely behind the Energy Probe model, and yet I see the total scores there are 12 and 20.  


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.  


MR. AIKEN:  So if those models are close, then I assume you would characterize the results on table 6 as being very close between Energy Probe and the 20-year trend model, since the scores are closer.  


MR. DENOMY:  The ranking is just one and two or two and one, depending on which table you look at.  


MR. AIKEN:  So in both cases they're very close?  One is closely behind the other?  


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.  


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  We can move to page 57 of 65.  This has to do with comparison of the equations A1 through A3, with A4 through A6 on pages 54 through 57.   


MR. DENOMY:  Okay, I have that.  


MR. AIKEN:  Now, the -- I believe you indicated to someone, I believe Mr. Millar the other day, that the F stat on the A1 equation was not significant at the 95 percent level.  


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, that's correct.  


MR. AIKEN:  Can you also confirm that is -- it is not significant at the 90 percent level. 


MR. DENOMY:  It's not significant at the 90 percent level.  


MR. AIKEN:  The A4 equation, the F stat is 12.79. 


MR. DENOMY:  Yes. 


MR. AIKEN:  Can you confirm that is significant, at a level of significance of 99.9 percent?  


MR. DENOMY:  I assume you have done that calculation, because I don't have the P value here so I can't correctly read it.  


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Maybe you could take that subject to check. 


MR. DENOMY:  I will take that subject to check, yes.  


MR. AIKEN:  Similarly, comparing A2 with A5 which are the eastern equations 20-year trend versus Energy Probe. 


MR. DENOMY:  Yes. 


MR. AIKEN:  The F value indicates that the 20-year trend is not significant at 60 percent level.  


MR. DENOMY:  That's correct.  


MR. AIKEN:  And the Energy Probe model F stat 7.66 is significant at the 99.9 percent level?  


MR. DENOMY:  Okay.  Yes. 


MR. AIKEN:  Similarly A3 versus A 6, A3 is not significant at a 45 percent probability level.  


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.  


MR. AIKEN:  Whereas A6 the Energy Probe version is significant at the 99.0 percent level.  


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.  


MR. AIKEN:  All subject to check?  


MR. DENOMY:  All subject to check, yes.  


MR. AIKEN:  On pages 59 through 65 of the Exhibit K4.6, I have included the Union Gas decision that dealt with this matter.  


Specifically, I am looking at page 65 of 65, the first full paragraph.  "In order to test," and I will read it into the record: 

"In order to test the suitability of changing the normalization methodology, and in consideration of the principle of minimizing rate shock, the Board will allow Union, for 2004, to forecast heating degree days based on a 7/30 weighting of the 30-year average forecast and 20-year trend forecast respectively.  For each year thereafter, the Board will consider 5 percent declines and inclines to the weighting of the 30-year and 20-year methodology respectively until such time as a 50/50 weighting is in place."


Now, can you confirm that for 2007 Union is actually using a weight of 55/45?


MR. LADANYI:  No, we can't confirm that.  We don't know.  We will have to check for that.  We believe it was 50/50.  


MR. AIKEN:  Well, if you started off 2004 with the 70 weight, 2007 would get you to 55. 


MR. LADANYI:  We understand your arithmetic but we want to check with Union Gas.  


MR. MILLAR:  Is that an undertaking, Mr. Aiken, you are seeking?  


MR. AIKEN:  No, I don't think it is necessary.  I think it is on the record in the Union case.  


Now my understanding -- and correct me if I'm wrong -- what the Board did in the Union case is they phased in the proposed methodology with Union's currently -- current Board-approved methodology that was in place.  


MR. DENOMY:  That's correct.  


MR. AIKEN:  If the Board were to do a similar thing for Enbridge, without the phase-in, go directly to 50/50, but weight the 50/50 with your proposed methodology, with your current approved methodology which would be de Bever, would that -- my understanding is that would result in a reduction in the deficiency of about 10.6 million.  That being half the 21.2 million that is shown on Board Staff IR 17.  


MR. LADANYI:  We will take an undertaking.  We get actually a different number, so we don't want to debate arithmetic on the stand.  We will take an undertaking and respond to that undertaking.  


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  


MR. MILLAR:  J5.3.  What is the undertaking, Mr. Aiken?  


MR. AIKEN:  To provide the impact on the deficiency of using a degree day methodology that consists of a 50/50 weighting between the 20-year trend and the existing approved de Bever methodology.  


UNDERTAKING NO. J5.3:  provide the impact on the 


deficiency of using a degree day methodology that 


consists of a 50/50 weighting between the 20-year 


trend and the existing approved de Bever methodology


MR. AIKEN:  In your prefiled evidence at Exhibit C2, tab 4, schedule 1, page 1, I believe, yes, page 1, paragraph 3, you state and I quote:  

"The company finds that the Energy Probe method has merit and that it is preferable to the de Bever process."  


My question is:  Do you still support that, that the Energy Probe methodology is better than the de Bever?  


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, we do.  Yes, we do.  


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, back on that paragraph on the decision with reasons in the Union case, the Board specifically mentioned consideration of the principle of minimizing rate shock.  


Does Enbridge believe that any rate mitigation is required that may result from this specific change to the 20-year trend?


MR. LADANYI:  No, we do not.  As you know, there are substantial rate changes due to QRAMs from quarter to quarter, and the customers are fully adjusted to changing in gas rates.  So we do not believe that these numbers are of a magnitude where they would result in a rate shock.


MR. AIKEN:  Approximately how many of your customers are direct purchase customers?


MR. LADANYI:  Number of customers?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


MR. LADANYI:  Forty percent.


MR. AIKEN:  I believe Mr. Shepherd asked you whether you tried a 30‑year trend, and I believe the answer was "no".


MR. DENOMY:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Did you try other length of trends, for example five or ten years?


MR. DENOMY:  No.


MR. AIKEN:  How did you determine that 20‑year was the only trend you would try?


MR. DENOMY:  I believe, again, I answered that question in my conversation with Mr. Shepherd, I believe, yesterday.  But we simply looked at models that had been proposed or were in use by utilities at this point in time.  That's all we looked at.


MR. AIKEN:  I take that to mean you did not look at any time series analysis or things like Box-Jenkins or REMA type models?


MR. DENOMY:  No, no.


MR. AIKEN:  One final question.  Given the importance of today's date, I was wondering if anybody has heard what Wiarton Willy has been forecasting?


MR. LADANYI:  No, we haven't, but maybe we should have a groundhog methodology, too.


MR. AIKEN:  It wouldn't surprise me if the little rodent would have a better forecasting accuracy than many of these methodologies we have been talking about.


MR. LADANYI:  I wonder what groundhog Willy's R-square is.


MR. AIKEN:  Those are my questions, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.  Mr. Warren, do you have anything on this?


MR. WARREN:  I don't, sir.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just one area.  It is more to get a conceptual understanding of the process that we have been discussing in the last couple of days.


We have talked about the merits of using the three models or not, and I think that is just a pragmatic decision as to whether or not we -- it is basically a balance between the complications of that and the workload versus any kind of theoretical reason why we wouldn't use the three.


From what I am getting an understanding of here is the appropriateness, I suppose is the best way to put it -- I would ask anyone to comment on it.  We're in effect model shopping here, to find what has the highest predictability.


To that extent, if you are right in the three different regions separately, you would have proposed the level of accuracy or the model that had the highest predictability as the model that you would choose?


MR. DENOMY:  That's right.


MR. QUESNELLE:  To that extent and with the fact that you've gone the 20‑year trending on this, is there ‑‑ what would you propose as a less complicated way than having three models, but taking into effect the three different weather regions that you have numbers on?  


Is there a blending prospect, a way to blend models, or would you suggest that that is even adding complication to the exercise?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. DENOMY:  Well, we think that the best way would be to basically go with the separate models for each region, based on their ranking in Exhibit C2, tab 4, schedule 1.  There are different weather patterns in each of the regions, and if the Board decides that it's appropriate to use the 20‑year trend for the central weather zone, but other models for the eastern and Niagara, we would be okay with that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  You say that would be the best way to take in the effects of those other weather zones as opposed to doing anything hybrid?


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.


MR. DENOMY:  You're welcome.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ladanyi, I just have one question.


When we look at this ‑‑ I am just looking at K4.4.  Mr. Shepherd put in a similar document.  The one thing we know about all of these models is that they're all going to be wrong.  Sometimes you win.  Sometimes you lose.  But they're always wrong.


Now, Mr. Shepherd raised an interesting point in his examination, which is we don't have to do it this way.  We can do it the way the BC Commission does.  We can just adjust for the error, with some form of variance account.


What's wrong with that?


MR. LADANYI:  I would say that there is nothing specifically wrong with that.  It's just not our evidence before the Board.  We don't have any proposal right now to discuss, but, in theory, there is nothing wrong with that.  It works well in BC, and it might work well in Ontario.


MR. KAISER:  Well, is there any reason why it wouldn't work in Ontario just the way it works in BC?  It takes out the forecasting error, albeit with a bit of a lag.


MR. LADANYI:  I would say conceptually I'm not that familiar with the details in BC, but I can't see any structural reason why it wouldn't work in Ontario.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.  Mr. Millar, anything?


MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, Mr. Chair.  I had just a very small number of questions in redirect.


MR. KAISER:  I realize.


MR. MILLAR:  No, nothing further for me.


MR. KAISER:  Please go ahead.


RE‑EXAMINATION BY MR. STEVENS:

MR. STEVENS:  Going back to the first day when you were giving evidence, there was some discussion about the volume forecast for contract customers, and it struck me that there was some confusion about the way that this was done and why there is no average use model for those customers.


I was hoping that, Mr. Ladanyi or Ms. Chan, you could expand just a little bit for me on why the customer doesn't use an average use model for industrial customers.


MR. LADANYI:  Well, we believe that directly talking to the customers is a lot more accurate, because what you are getting, for example, from talking to the customer -- I will give you an example, let's say Toronto Transit Commission getting rid of NGV buses.  


In that case, if you had a model, you wouldn't pick it up.  The model wouldn't forecast that.  There is no economic indicators to tell you that in 2006, for example, TTC would decide that they would go to these hybrid buses and get rid of all of their natural gas buses.


So those kind of decisions could not be picked up by a model, and you have -- also, when you extrapolate this into other industries, there will be situations whereby, for example, one car manufacturer might be expanding production, such as Honda, and another one might be contracting, such as General Motors.  These things would not be picked up directly by a model.  It would be dependent on the customer's own -- the industrial customer's own business decisions.


You can get that much more accurately by talking directly to the customers.  It is ‑‑ we are dealing with relatively few customers.  We can speak to all of them and find out very accurate information.  We don't need a model to predict what they're going to tell us.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Secondly, Mr. Denomy, if I could get you, please, to turn to Exhibit C2, tab 4, schedule 1, page 11.  It is just as a reference point.  We are not going to get into the details of these tables, table 6 and table 7.


There has been discussion about accuracy and symmetry and whether they're the same thing, or not.  I was hoping that you could just expand a little bit on any differences that exist between accuracy and symmetry; in other words, whether it is possible for a model to score high, in terms of accuracy, but not in terms of symmetry, or vice versa.


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.  Take, for example, a model that over-forecasts degree days by 0.45 percent per year every year.  That would be an accurate model, because on average, depending ‑‑ regardless of the time period over which you are examining the average error, it is going to be 0.5 percent.  But in terms of symmetry, it's always going to be consistently over-forecasting.


So you need to take into account not only the accuracy, but the symmetry of the model in order to capture all aspects of the model's predictive ability.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Next, and I think probably this is for you, Mr. Ladanyi, there was a fair bit of discussion during Mr. Shepherd's examination about degree days and how they're going to fit into the incentive regulation model.


I think there was a question about whether we are setting degree days for one year or six years here, or what is happening.  I was hoping you could just expand, from the company's perspective, about what it is that we know about how degree days will be used and applied in the IR context.


MR. LADANYI:  Well, we know that there are several considerations, and I don't think that anything final has been decided.  From a practical point of view, we are going to have a situation, during the incentive regulation period, whereby we will have to, for example, be recovering deferral and variance account balances.  We would require some kind of degree day forecast and volume forecast to do that.  


We will have situations whereby there will be quarterly QRAMs or gas price changes.  For that, you would require some kind of a volume forecast.  So you can recover those over appropriate volumes.  


It is also not clear at this time whether the methodology that the Board will adopt is going to actually lock in the volumes as they are in 2007 and keep them constant throughout all of these years or whether they will be changed each clear so we really don't know that.  We can't make any assumptions right now there will be no adjustment for volumes during the five years or six years.  It is quite a stretch.  All of these things have to still be resolved by the Board.  


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Just one final question.  I think this is for you, again.  


MR. KAISER:  Sorry, go ahead. 


MR. STEVENS:  One final question, I think this is for you again, Mr. Ladanyi.  Yesterday, Mr. Shepherd spoke about the idea of weather-driven variance account.  I think Mr. Chair picked up on that again today.  


One of his questions yesterday, Mr. Shepherd seemed to suggest that one way to do this might be to amortize the amounts in such accounts over five or ten years.  Can you comment on the implications of doing that as compared to clearing amounts in such an account on an annual basis?  


MR. LADANYI:  Well, one of the things one tries to do in regulation and in rate-setting is to avoid, as much as possible, intergenerational cross-subsidy.  The idea is in rate-setting that user-pay principle should apply, which is that current customers should pay as much as possible their current costs.  Rather than being forced to pay costs that are incurred by customers perhaps ten years ago or ten years into the future.  


So the idea here is as much as possible, it is not always possible, is to have current customers be charged for whatever it costs to serve them.  And then that is reflected, whether it is going to be in situations such as weather and rate-setting, in this case, or also in depreciation studies.  That is why you do all of those things to assure it is appropriate recovery to the accounting period or the period which is being served.  


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  


FURTHER QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD: 


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Ladanyi, just by way of housekeeping and the reason for my question is I have been somewhat divorced from a gas rates case for two or three years.  


What is the practice now or the company's expectation, that the Board itself will have to calculate the revenue deficiency; or does the Board issue its decision and then the company puts that together in what the deficiency or revenue requirement would be based on those findings and then that matter is settled through the rate order?  What is the practice?  


I will tell you why I am asking this question, is because to the extent the Board would be inclined to make some changes to the volume forecast would be because degree days or average use -- I have to worry -- I, for one, have to worry about:  Where do I get the specific impact data in the prefiled evidence, so that is the reason for my question.  Can you help me with that?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, I am no longer in the regulatory affairs department so I am not completely sure what is being contemplated this year.  But what has happened in the past, traditionally Board Staff would calculate the deficiency and that happened for many years.  Then most recently Board Staff actually relied on the company to calculate the deficiency and discussed it with the company.  


So I am not sure what is being contemplated this year.  Perhaps Mr. Stevens can help me.  


MR. STEVENS:  My understanding, Member Vlahos, is that what's happened in the recent past and what the company expects would happen again this year, is the company would reflect whatever decision the Board has made in terms of revenue deficiency, and then work closely with the Board Staff who have been associated with this case to make sure that that makes sense from all sides.  And it is an iterative process back and forth, to make sure that the Board's decision is properly captured, in terms of revenue deficiency impact.  Then, of course, the final rate order is put out for comments to parties before it's approved by the Board.  So everybody has an opportunity to assure themselves of the correctness of any calculations that fall out of your decision.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, thank you for that.  That is one way of doing it and perhaps the easier way, from the panel's perspective.  


Just finally, Mr. Ladanyi.  The Chair has -- you had an interchange with the Chair and others about weather being at the risk of the ratepayer or the risk taken away from the shareholder.  And you talked about the British Columbia model.  


So my question is a conceptual one.  Would the focus of the parties, the Board and the stakeholders, turn to the precision of the normalization methodology wherein you actually have to book into variance accounts certain dollars?  


MR. LADANYI:  Sorry, if your question is if there was a variance account -- 


MR. VLAHOS:  Right. 


MR. LADANYI:  -- would the precision be as important?  I guess if there was a variance account, probably would not be as important as it is now, but I am just speaking off the top of my head.  I would really have to consider how that would really work.  


MR. VLAHOS:  I don't think I made myself clear.  


Right now there is a normalization methodology which is used to, for purpose of say historical-year basis, that you know, normalized basis, this is what we sold as opposed to actual.  


There isn't much focus, much discussion on that, because it is not a question of dividing dollars.  It is simply used as a base in order to assess the reasonableness of the forecast, okay.  So there is an actual division of dollars in that exercise.  So if we were to move to a model where weather shouldn't matter for the company, I just wonder whether the focus would shift into the precision of this methodology because dollars would be divided up. 


MR. LADANYI:  You are absolutely right, Mr. Vlahos, that is exactly what would happen.  The issue of how you normalize the results after the fact would become very important and there would probably be a lot of scrutiny on how that would be done.  


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Okay, thank you for that.  


MR. KAISER:  Anything further, Mr. Stevens?  


MR. STEVENS:  No, sir.  The next panel to appear is the -- as you know the panel on deferral and variance accounts.  They are in the building but I don't believe in the room.  So it would be helpful to have a break. 


MR. KAISER:  We will have a short break.  Thank you very much, panel.  


[Panel withdraws]


--- Recess taken at 10:35 a.m.


‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 11:05 a.m.


 MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Stephens.  Sorry, Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  That's all right, sir.  I'm honoured.  


Mr. Chair, the next panel appearing on behalf of the company is the deferral and variance account panel.


Before I introduce them, I thought it would be appropriate to ask you to have an exhibit that was circulated yesterday electronically to the parties marked as an exhibit.  It is a two-page exhibit.  The first page is the breakdown for the electric program earnings deferral account, and the second page refers to three deferral accounts, the two GDAR accounts for 2005 and 2006, and the URICDA 2006 deferral account.  If we could ask for those to be marked as an exhibit, please.


MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K5.1.



EXHIBIT NO. K5.1:  BREAKDOWN FOR ELECTRONIC PROGRAM 


DEFERRAL ACCOUNTS.

MR. O'LEARY:  This panel will deal with the five remaining deferral account balances which the company seeks to clear which were not part of the settlement agreement you approved last week.  You will recall that -- or earlier this week.  You will recall that the gas supply risk panel dealt with the deferral account in respect to that activity, so there is only three -- five remaining.


In respect of the several deferral accounts that the company is asking approval for the creation of a 2007 deferral account, they will be and are the subject of ongoing discussions within the CAS customer care consultative and the open bill access consultative.  


If there is resolution there, I believe we would expect that there would be resolution in respect of consent to the creation of those 2007 accounts.  If there is not, then those panels will deal with those.  


So this panel today is only dealing with issue 3.13 and the remaining five deferral accounts.


Mr. Chair, if I may introduce the panel, closest to the windows and to yourself is -- at far right is Mr. Norm Ryckman, who is a director of business intelligence and support.  He will be speaking to the electric program earnings deferral account.


To Mr. Ryckman's right is Mr. Kevin Culbert, who is the manager, regulatory accounting.  He will be speaking to the Alliance/Vector appeal cost deferral account, and there is an outstanding deferral account, carbon dioxide credit deferral account, that he will acknowledge needs to be also brought forward to your attention.


In the middle is Mr. Anton Kacicnik, who is the manager, cost allocation, and he will be and is available to answer questions in respect of the unbundled rate implementation cost deferral account and the GDAR accounts.  


Then to his right is Ms. Jody Sarnovsky, who is the manager of strategic and key accounts, and she will and is available to give evidence in respect of URICDA and the GDAR accounts.  


Then, finally, closest to me is Mr. Steve McGill, who is the manager, contracts and customer systems, and he is available to speak to the two GDAR accounts, as well.


If I could ask that the panel be sworn, Mr. Quesnelle.  I believe our witness in the middle has already been sworn earlier this week.
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Norm Ryckman; Sworn


Kevin Culbert; Sworn


Anton Kacicnik; Previously Sworn


Jody Sarnovsky; Sworn


Stephen McGill; Sworn


EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. O'LEARY:

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Quesnelle.


The evidence, prefiled evidence, in support of the relief sought in this proceeding is filed as Exhibit D1, tab 7, schedules 1 to 3, and Exhibit D1, tab 10, schedules 1 and 2, and now Exhibit K5.1, as well as the responses to various interrogatories.  


Now I would turn to you, Mr. Culbert, and ask you, on behalf of the panel, whether or not the prefiled evidence and the company's responses to interrogatories and the exhibit which was filed today was prepared by or under the direction of the members of this panel.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, it was.


MR. O'LEARY:  Does the panel adopt all of this evidence for the purposes of its testimony in this proceeding on behalf of the company?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, we do.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  If we could turn first to the unbundled rate implementation cost deferral account for 2006, and it is Ms. Sarnovsky and Mr. Kacicnik that will be speaking to this.  


If I could turn to you first, Ms. Sarnovsky, could you please describe the amount and the nature of the costs recorded in this deferral account?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes, I can.  The amount in the URICDA account is $480,500, and that is the amount we're proposing to clear to rates.


Exhibit K5.1 was handed out this morning, and it provides a detailed listing of the components of that account.  At a high level, just to summarize, the accounts essentially represent the costs to implement the new unbundled rates and services, and it would include costs such as the design development and implementation of a manual tracking tool; training, communication and customer education costs; as well as legal and staffing costs.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  I wonder if you could also then provide a very brief history of the development of these new rates and the establishment of the deferral account.


MR. KACICNIK:  The company developed its unbundled rates and services for power generation and large volume customers as part of the NGEIR proceeding, which concluded in August 2006.


In that proceeding, all parties agreed that the company should be kept whole with respect to the implementation and introduction of unbundled rates and services.


The parties also agreed, as stated in the company's NGEIR settlement proposal, to support the establishment of 2006 unbundled rates implementation cost deferral account, and to support the recovery, by the company, of prudently incurred costs that were placed in that deferral account.


As part of the NGEIR proceeding, the Board was also asked to consider what was called a threshold issue to determine which customers should be responsible for unbundled rates implementation cost.


In an oral decision delivered on July 14th, 2006, the Board found that this cost should be recovered from large volume customers, and, as part of the same decision, the Board also approved the company's NGEIR settlement proposal, including the use of the deferral account.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Mr. Kacicnik, could you please now advise the Panel as to how the company proposes to allocate the costs in this deferral account.


MR. KACICNIK:  The company has stated on a number of occasions - it is in NGEIR prefiled evidence, undertaking responses and hearing - that this cost should be recovered from all large volume customers, be it bundled or unbundled, based on customer numbers.


This means that every large volume customer would be allocated the same amount, which would be derived at by taking the balance in the deferral account and dividing the balance by the total number of large volume customers in the system.


The company continues to be of the view that the allocation based on customer numbers is appropriate.  The rationale for this is two‑fold.  Firstly, costs of introducing and administering unbundled rates and services vary with customer numbers.  


Secondly, the company believes that the approach of allocating these costs to all large volume customers is consistent with the Board principles for system or service improvements that are market enabling and increase customer choice.


Having said that, the company proposes to recover these costs based on customer numbers.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Turning now, Mr. Chair, to the 2006 Alliance/Vector appeal cost deferral account, Mr. Culbert, could I ask you to confirm for the panel what the amounts are which are recorded in the deferral account?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I can.  The amounts recorded in the deferral account at this point you could see at numerous exhibits, specifically Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix A.  The amount recorded there is $529,000 of principal plus approximately $17,000 of interest expense.  


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Could you, please, briefly outline the nature and source of these costs? 


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I can.  All of the costs included in the deferral account are essentially external legal fees and disbursements which the company has incurred.  They're in relation to the Ontario Energy Board's appeal of the company's successful Divisional Court appeal.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Can you advise this panel of whether the Alliance/Vector appeal costs were raised and considered by the panel which heard the Enbridge 2006 rate case?  


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, they were.  As part of the 2006 rate case, initially we had actually sought recovery of the amounts within the scope of an OHCVA, Ontario hearing cost variance account.  The Board determined in its 2006 decision that the company should apply for a new deferral account specifically to capture the costs associated with the Alliance/Vector appeal.  


The company subsequently applied for such a variance account and was granted the account by the Ontario Energy Board.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Was there anything else stated by the Board in its Reasons for Decision, in the 2006 rate case, which the company relies on for the purposes of seeking approval for the clearance of the amounts recorded in the deferral account?  


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, there were numerous comments in that Board decision.  The Board commented about some considerations that should apply when the Board is asked to consider disposition of those costs relating to an appeal of Board decision.  Specifically, the Board stated at paragraph 14.3.4 of that decision that: 

“The rate structure in Ontario is predicated on a just and reasonable standard, where a utility acting in good faith regards a Board decision to be unsound, it should be open to bring a judicial review action and to have prospective recovery of the associated costs.”  


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Culbert.  Now, with that quotation, that principle enunciated by the Board in the 2006 rate case decision in mind, could you please provide the reasons that the company advances in this proceeding in support of its request for clearance of the amounts recorded in the deferral account.  


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  There is numerous reasons the company believes the amounts are recoverable.  


First, the amount which had been disallowed with the Alliance-Vector Pipeline cost was not an insignificant amount.  It was an $11 million disallowance.  The company appealed that disallowance to the Ontario Divisional Court and was successful in obtaining an order which remitted the matter back to the Ontario Energy Board for reconsideration.  


In our view, that is clear evidence of the reasonableness of the company's appeal.  It also shows, in the company's view, that it acted in good faith in launching the appeal.  


Another example is good faith on the part of the company, that we are only seeking recovery of the costs associated with responding to the OEB's appeal of the Divisional Court decision and proceedings and, as a result, we believe that all of the thresholds which the Board stated in its decision for consideration with an application have been met and we are respectfully proposing disposition of the account.



MR. O'LEARY:  Does the account include any costs associated with the leave application of the Supreme Court of Canada?  


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, it does.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Culbert.  Turning next, Mr. Chair, to the electric program earnings sharing deferral account.  The witness who will speak to this, Mr. Ryckman.  


Could I ask you, Mr. Ryckman, to first advise of the amount that has been recorded in the account and how you arrived at that amount.  


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.  The amount that is in the account stands as a credit to ratepayers and it is $175,100.  This represents 50 percent of the net revenue of the electric program earnings after deducting the program costs.  


This falls in line with the Board decision that was approved in EB-2005-0001 and that was the partial decision with reasons dated December 22nd, 2005.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Ryckman.  Could you now please briefly explain the activities undertaken by the company which have generated the revenues and ultimately the amounts that are recorded in the deferral account.  


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.  Given the company's lengthy history delivering demand-side management, we are able to assist local distribution companies with the delivery of conservation and demand management activities.  We primarily do this through channel partners.  So we simply 

-- very simply stated, we contract with LDCs for the provision of these conservation and demand-management programs and we leverage channel partners that we use for other DSM purposes as well to deliver those programs.  


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  I noticed, Mr. Ryckman, at Exhibit 5.1, at line item 3, there are costs that are recorded as being internal resource costs. 


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. O’LEARY:  Could you please explain to the panel what these refer to.  


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.  Actually, I will touch on line 2 as well as 3, so that -- line 2 is the material and service costs.  This would be for compact fluorescent lamps, this would be for pipe-wrap, showerheads, those sorts of things associated with the programs, as well as the contractor costs to facilitate execution of those programs.  


The internal resource costs are the, it's a reflection of the time spent by staff within Enbridge working on the program.  So we take their hourly rate and multiply it by the time that they're spending on the program and that’s how we derive the internal costs.  


Now, I think it is important to note that we really view this as a win-win situation.  Obviously the Board has endorsed this type of activity in the generic hearing and we see this as a win-win situation.  It allows us to leverage our expertise.  It allows the LDCs to get a quick win, in terms of conservation and demand management results out there.  And also generates some extra revenue for the shareholder and for the ratepayer as well.  So overall it is a win-win situation.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Turning now, Mr. Chair, to the 2005 and 2006 GDAR deferral accounts.  Perhaps I could ask the three witnesses that are going to speak to that, Mr. McGill, Ms. Sarnovsky, and Mr. Kacicnik, to provide a brief description of their role and responsibilities in respect of GDAR and the amounts that have been recorded in the deferral account.  


Perhaps starting with you, Mr. McGill.  


MR. McGILL:  Yes.  My prime responsibility is to ensure that the company will be compliant with the 2008 GDAR requirements.  I have been involved with the process leading up to the completion of the Gas Distribution Access Rule.  I have been involved with the development of the related business process and systems requirements that are needed in order to implement aspects of the rule within Enbridge Gas Distribution, and the changes required in our computer systems in order to do that.  


I am also involved with the company's CIS replacement Project, and that will be the vehicle by which we address GDAR requirements beyond 2007.  


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Ms. Sarnovsky?  


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes.  I am the business sponsor for the 2007 GDAR requirements, which essentially means that the project team that's been established reports up through to me.  As such, I have accountability for the oversight and management of all aspects of the 2007 GDAR project, with my primary responsibility being to ensure that GDAR is implemented on time, on budget, and obviously in compliance with the rules that have been established by the Ontario Energy Board.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Mr. Kacicnik?  


MR. KACICNIK:  I am here on behalf of the rates department, to answer any questions with respect to allocation of GDAR costs to customer classes.  


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  I believe, Ms. Sarnovsky, you volunteered to confirm the amounts that are in the 2005/2006 deferral accounts.  


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes, I can do that.  As shown on Exhibit K5.1, the balance in 2005 GDAR deferral account is $406,000.  In addition, there are about $29,000 in interest costs.  


As for the 2006 GDAR deferral account, the principal balance is $7,923,300, with an interest component of about $62,000 and all of these amounts are to be capitalized.  


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you. I wonder if I could turn to you, first, Mr. McGill, and ask you to provide the Board panel with a brief description of the history of the GDAR, the gas distribution access rule, and why the company has incurred the costs recorded in the deferral accounts.  


MR. McGILL:  Yes.  The history of GDAR goes back into the late 1990s as part of the market design task force.  And from at least 2002, the Board and all of the intervenors have been made aware, there would be significant costs involved by the utilities in order to meet the requirements of GDAR.  


At a high level, the company has been aware of what would be required in order to implement the rule, but it has only been over the course of last year where enough detail has been driven out to actually go in and start to look at how we would have to reengineer our business processes and modify our computing systems in order to accommodate the rule.  And those requirements are still changing pretty much right up to as we speak today.


Some of the important points I think to consider are 

-- is that the Board has mandated GDAR and the company's compliance with it.  All of the costs that have been recorded in the 2005 and 2006 GDAR deferral accounts were incurred by the company to satisfy this mandate, and we believe that they should all be recoverable in rates.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Ms. Sarnovsky, could you please expand upon the type and costs recorded in the 2005 deferral account.


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes, I can.  The costs recorded in the 2005 deferral account relate to the preparation of impact analyses, basically analyses to determine the impact of GDAR compliance on existing business processes, on existing systems and any modifications that were required to each or both.  


In addition, high level cost estimates were derived based on the results of these impact analyses.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Could I ask you the same question in respect of the 2006 account?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes.  In 2006, the company has incurred costs relating to modifying existing computer systems, business process changes, training and communication, cut-over readiness, so implementing the actual changes in the systems, and program management expenses.  All of these are provided in detail on Exhibit K5.1 and are itemized as such.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right, thank you.  Turning to you, again, Mr. McGill.  Could I ask you:  What information can you provide to the Board today which speaks to whether the costs recorded in the two GDAR accounts were reasonably incurred?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.  This project has been governed by a steering committee that includes myself and Ms. Sarnovsky, in addition to an external risk manager, a senior representative from our IT group, as well as a senior representative from our regulatory group.


There has been a project manager in place throughout the project who reports to the steering committee and manages external and external resources working on the project.  We have a detailed project plan in place, and that includes work plans and project milestones, which is the basis of the project's budget.


The project has been managed within that budget, even in the face of changing requirements that have changed as late as of last month.


MS. SARNOVSKY:  If I could just add to that.  There are some very conscious decisions we've made throughout the process to ensure that we mitigated against any potential cost pressures resulting from some of the changing requirements that Mr. McGill has talked about.  


So we've made decisions within the projects to allow us to account for changes, but not necessarily have to increase the budget as a result of, and it just the structure of how we're doing things.  


In addition, we've really actively managed the resources, such that we've allocated resources across various projects or multiple projects to try to reduce the project costs in each.


And I guess the point of what I am trying to say is we do scrutinize the costs.  We have taken some actions to ensure that the costs are minimized.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Finally, Ms. Sarnovsky, how do the costs recorded in the 2006 GDAR deferral account compare with estimates given to the Board and/or intervenors in the past about the estimated costs to achieve compliance to the 2007 standards?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Our original filing in the 2007 rate application included a total cost of about $11-1/2 million to implement the 2007 requirements.  Since that time, there's been a change in the implementation date of GDAR from January 1st, 2007 to June 1st, 2007.  So we updated our cost forecast to be $13.4 million.


Previous estimates that we have provided as part of our 2006 rate applications were in the range of $15.1 million, so net effect being that the costs that have been recorded in the 2006 deferral account, plus the costs that we will incur in 2007 in order to be GDAR compliant by June 1st, 2007, will come in about $1.7 million lower than the initial estimates that we provided.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Turning lastly, Mr. Chair, to the carbon dioxide credit deferral account, which is something that we have not seen in the filings to date.  Mr. Culbert is going to speak to that.  If I could ask you.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  In the EB-2006‑0021 DSM proceeding, the issue of recording any carbon dioxide offset credits which the company might earn was considered by the Board.  And although there was no forecast for such credits in 2007, the Board did order the creation of such an account.


Inadvertently, myself, I failed to include that within the company's application - it was a simple omission on my part - and requesting the establishment of that account.  As such, I am now raising the matter and asking the Board to approve the establishment of the account consistent with the Board's earlier order in the DSM proceeding.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Culbert.


That is the evidence-in‑chief, sir.  The panel is now available for cross‑examination.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I think Mr. Warren had a birdie on the last hole, so he has the honour.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Warren.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:

MR. WARREN:  The most elegant form of ducking I have ever heard.  


Panel, I have questions on four of the contested accounts.  One of them, I am going to be a pale grey imitation of Mr. Thompson.  I will get to that at the end of the process.  


I would like to start, Mr. Culbert, with the Alliance/Vector appeal costs, if I can.


MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to speak up a little bit?  We're having difficulty here.


MR. WARREN:  As I understand it, Mr. Culbert, the amount in question is $592,000; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  $529,000, actually.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, 529.  As I understand your evidence this morning, those are costs in respect of responding to the Board's appeal before the Ontario Court of Appeal; is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct, with -- some of the amounts, actually, are with respect to the company's leave for appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada.


MR. WARREN:  You are slightly ahead of me, Mr. Culbert.  Can you break down the costs of the $529,000?  How much is attributable to the Ontario Court of Appeal proceeding?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I can.  The amounts spent on the OEB leave to and the appeal is approximately $445,000, with 83 -- $82,000 to the ‑‑ with the company's appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada.


MR. WARREN:  Now, can you tell me, Mr. Culbert, as I look through the prefiled evidence in this matter, is there -- with respect to the Ontario Court of Appeal, is there a breakdown of those costs?  For example, are there invoices from your attorneys anywhere in the record?


MR. CULBERT:  No, there are not.


MR. WARREN:  Is there a record of how much time was spent by your attorneys in that case?


MR. CULBERT:  No, there is not.


MR. WARREN:  With respect to the application for leave to appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada, first of all, is the application for leave to appeal anywhere in the record?


MR. CULBERT:  I'm sorry, Mr. Warren, I couldn't hear your question.


MR. WARREN:  Is the application for leave to appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada itself anywhere in the record?


MR. CULBERT:  No, it is not.


MR. WARREN:  Is there anywhere in the record a breakdown of the time spent by your attorneys on the application for leave to appeal?


MR. CULBERT:  No, there is not.


MR. WARREN:  Now, the ‑‑ you made reference in your testimony-in‑chief this morning to the Board's reasons for decision in the 2006 rate case, EB-2006‑0001, and to the principles, as you called them, that the Board said should apply to the -- at least to the creation of the deferral account and to the principles that the Board might apply in considering whether the amounts should be recovered from ratepayers; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, the criteria, the principles, are set out in that decision at page 110 of the decision.  Do you have that in front of you, Mr. Culbert?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I do, actually.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if I look -- Mr. Culbert, if we can look together at section 14.2.3.  Can you and I agree that the issue before the Board in that case was whether or not a deferral account should be created to record the costs of an -- responding to the leave ‑‑ sorry, responding to the appeal of the Court of Appeal and any subsequent rehearing before the Board; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  Principally, yes, that's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Well, have I missed anything, Mr. Culbert?  In 14.2.3, the Board said the costs of defending itself against the Board's appeal to the Ontario Court of Appeal and any costs of subsequent rehearing.  Have I missed anything?


MR. CULBERT:  I'm sorry, could you point to that passage again, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, section 14.2.3.  My point, Mr. Culbert, I would like you to agree with it if you can, is that the Board, in its decision there, was dealing with responding to the Ontario Court of Appeal proceeding and to any subsequent rehearing before this Board; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Can you agree with me, then, Mr. Culbert, that the Board was not dealing with the -- any application for leave to the Supreme Court of Canada.  


MR. CULBERT:  I'm not sure I would word it that way.  I would review it as being and any subsequent rehearing.  


MR. WARREN:  You characterize any subsequent rehearing arising from the Ontario Court of Appeal proceeding as being an application for leave to appeal, to include an application to appeal to the Supreme Court; is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  I believe the company's view was, having won the right or the allowance of its appeal at the Divisional Court, that it was reasonable to assume that maybe the Supreme Court of Canada might find in the same favour of the company by allowing its appeal. 


MR. WARREN:  Is it the position of the company, in this case, that notwithstanding the wording of the decision with reasons in EB 2006-0001, that the principles the Board articulated are to apply to an application for leave to appeal to the Supreme Court?  


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, they are.  


MR. WARREN:  Sorry?  


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, they are.  


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, I am going to ask you, Mr. Culbert, how the Board should apply the principles in the case.  First of all, let me ask you this question.  


Do you agree that in assessing the reasonableness of the costs in the Ontario Court of Appeal proceeding, that the Board ought to have before it some evidence of what the total amount or how the total amount of $445,000 was arrived at, how many hours were spent on it?  Is that a reasonable thing for the Board to look at in this case?  


MR. CULBERT:  I'm not sure I could answer that question.  I would have to leave that to the Board whether they feel they need to see the number of hours spent.  


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  When the Board comes to apply the principles which are set out in the decision, let me take you, if I can, to the Board's reasoning in 14.3.3, the Board said. 


And I quote, in the second full sentence: 

 “The determination of the prudence of the expenditure will turn on the reasonableness of the grounds for review, among other considerations.”  


Is that right?  


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, we don't have before us, the Board doesn't have before us the application for leave to appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada.  How - I am going to ask you, Mr. Culbert - can the Board address that principle in the absence of any evidence of what the grounds for leave to appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada were?  


MR. CULBERT:  Again, in the company's view, the reasonableness of the grounds is based on the fact that the Divisional Court found in favour of the company.  


The reasonableness determination of the costs incurred, the company's senior management and associate general counsel monitored the proceedings that were before the Ontario Court of Appeal, and my assumption would be that the company doesn't frivolously spend money on these matters.  It would ensure the time spent by counsel hired was appropriately incurred. 


MR. WARREN:  You are slightly ahead of me, Mr. Culbert, but let me parse, if I can, your response to the first one.  My first question was, looking at the Board's principles in 14.3.3, the reasonableness of the grounds for the review, I take it your answer is that in the absence of having the application for leave to appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada, what the Board should do is assume that any -- that once you have a successful decision at any level of the court, any proceeding thereafter is deemed to be reasonable.  Is that a fair summary of your position?  


MR. CULBERT:  It could be deemed a reasonable summary.  Again, the company's view is that it -- having had the Divisional Court allow its appeal, the company believes that the matter for setting rates was deemed by that court to be appropriately required for remittance back to the Board.  


MR. WARREN:  You were not in this proceeding and have never, as I understand it, sought costs for the original appeal to the Divisional Court; is that correct?  


MR. CULBERT:  No, we have not.  We had included amounts originally in the 2006 OHCVA which the company agreed to incur on its own and seek only the costs of having a successful appeal.  


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, I'm not sure I understand that.  Did you or -- have you or have you not sought recovery of the costs associated with the original appeal to the Divisional Court; yes or no?  


MR. CULBERT:  I guess my answer, Mr. Warren, is initially we had sought recovery within the 2006 OHCVA.  And we subsequently removed the request for recovery of those amounts.  


MR. WARREN:  May I conclude or may the Board conclude you did not think it was appropriate to seek recovery for the costs to the appeal to the Divisional Court?  


MR. CULBERT:  I am not sure that we felt it wasn't appropriate, but the company decided that what would be appropriate was the costs that it would incur in defending itself against the Court of Appeal hearing, that those were fairly recoverable from the Ontario ratepayer, having had that court deem an issue which was a rate-making matter returned to the OEB for reconsideration.  


MR. WARREN:  Just following up with the logic of that answer.  I take it you and I would agree you were not defending yourself against anybody's appeal when you sought leave to appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada; is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  I would agree.  The rationale behind that, on the company's part was, having had a Divisional court find in favour of the company and allow its appeal, that it wasn't unreasonable to assume that another court would find in the same manner.  


MR. WARREN:  Now, looking again at 14.3.3, and you have already addressed this to some extent but I want to go back over it, if I can.  


The second principle that the Board expresses in the middle of that paragraph is the reasonableness of the costs incurred.  You and I have agreed earlier in response to one of my questions that the Board does not have any data in front of it by which it can assess the reasonableness of the costs incurred.  It doesn't have any time records.  It doesn't have any bills or anything like that.  Correct?  


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  


MR. WARREN:  Do I take your answer earlier that since your internal counsel and senior management of the company monitor the legal costs and they deem them to be appropriate, that the Board should take, from that, that the costs are reasonable?  Is that fair?  


MR. CULBERT:  I would say those are some of the principles behind what we believe the Board has available to it.  Certainly, if the Board wanted to see records of legal invoices, et cetera, we could certainly supply those.  But in addition, I believe part of the company's rationale that reasonable of costs incurred is a test that has been met is the counsel that was retained to act on behalf of the company was the original counsel in the 2002 decision where the costs were disallowed.  It was the counsel that was -- sought leave to appeal to the Divisional Court, and actually prosecuted -- or, excuse me, responded on behalf of the company against the Board's appeal to the Ontario appeal -- Court of Appeal.  Excuse me.  


MR. WARREN:  Was Mr. -- let me just parse that up a moment.  As I look at the record, a Mr. McDougall, senior counsel as Fraser Milner Casgrain was involved at all levels of the appeal.  Do you agree with that? 


MR. CULBERT:  I would have to take an undertaking on that.  


MR. WARREN:  Can you take it on faith, subject to check?


MR. CULBERT:  Certainly. 


MR. WARREN:  Can we agree Mr. McDougall never appeared before the Board in dealing with the Alliance-Vector matter?  


MR. CULBERT:  I would have to take that subject to check, but -- 


MR. WARREN:  And is it your position that the Board should, in assessing the reasonableness of the costs –- sorry, that one of the criteria the Board should apply is  merely the identity of the counsel who is involved in the case; is that fair?  


MR. CULBERT:  No, I don't think I'm suggesting that.  What I am suggesting is there are numerous aspects the Board should consider in terms of whether the costs are reasonable.  


The amount, I'm not one that can answer whether that amount of money is reasonable, or not.  I have no idea how much these Court of Appeals costs, but what we are suggesting is that the company monitors its hearings, and has certainly had this legal firm represent us in the past and that is our rationale behind the reasonableness of the costs incurred.  


MR. WARREN:  Can I turn then, panel, to the electric program earnings sharing deferral account.  I won't try the acronym because I will mess it up.  


Mr. Ryckman, as I understand it, this account tracks and accounts for the earnings generated by DSM services provided under contract to electric LDCs; is that correct?  


MR. RYCKMAN:  It tracks half of the net revenue associated with that activity, yes.  


MR. WARREN:  Well, it tracks all of the costs and all of the revenues; is that right?  


MR. RYCKMAN:  No the costs and revenues are in a separate account.  The EPESDA account tracks 50 percent of the net revenues.  So that is what goes into that account.  


MR. WARREN:  Can I ask you to turn up Exhibit K5.1.  


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.  


MR. WARREN:  Under the line item 1, gross revenue.  Am I to understand that the gross revenue earned by Enbridge for programs which are delivered to electric LDCs under contract is in fact twice the amount of one-million-four?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Sorry, could you say that again?


MR. WARREN:  Let me step back.  I thought you told me that this electric program earnings ‑ whatever it is - tracks only half of the gross revenues derived from the ‑‑


MR. RYCKMAN:  No, half of the net revenues.  So it might be helpful if I just walk you through the calculation here.


You have gross revenues of 1.4 -- $1.5 million.  You've got material and service costs, which come off of that, which are roughly $1 million.  You've got internal costs of $102,000, which come off that.  And it leaves you with a net revenue before sharing of 350.2, and then that amount gets shared 50/50 with the ratepayer, and the way the ratepayer receives their funding is through the EPESDA account.  So 50 percent gets transferred into the EPESDA account.  


MR. WARREN:  I take these things by baby steps, Mr. Ryckman, because you know so much more than I do.  My first baby step is:  Does this account track the gross revenues which the company earns from services which it delivers to electric LDCs pursuant to contracts?


MR. RYCKMAN:  The EPESDA account you're referring to?


MR. WARREN:  Does it track that amount, sir?


MR. RYCKMAN:  No, it does not.


MR. WARREN:  So there is other revenue which you earn from the delivery of these services to electric LDCs; is that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  The amount in the EPESDA is a subset of the revenues that are generated in line 1.


MR. WARREN:  Now, Mr. Ryckman, you and your colleague, Mr. Brophy, testified in the -- I will call it the GDSM case, the generic DSM case; do you recall that?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.  Yes, I do.


MR. WARREN:  In the GDSM case, Mr. Brophy gave some evidence, and it appears in the transcript on July 17th, 2006.  In response to a question from me, Mr. Brophy said:   

"I can indicate for 2006, if we are successful and we don't have contracts to align with this full amount after sharing, our half of the net revenues would be in the range of 100,000 to 150,000."


And that is, roughly speaking, what has been tracked in this account, is that right, one‑half of the net revenues?


MR. RYCKMAN:  That forecast is close to what is in the actuals, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now I want to understand, if I can, Mr. Brophy.  That testimony was given on July 17th, 2006.  The Board issued a decision in the GDSM case on August 25, 2006; do you recall that?  Will you take that, subject to check, that's the date?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.  


MR. WARREN:  Now, the intervening event, Mr. Brophy, was the issuance of an Order In Council which was issued on August 10, 2006, which ‑‑ to which was attached a Minister's directive to the Board to, in effect - this is my gloss on it - alter the undertakings in a way that would allow Enbridge to participate in the delivery of electric DSM programs; is that fair?  


You are familiar, I take it, Mr. Brophy, with that Order In Council and with the Minister's directive?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.  Just for the record, I'm Mr. Ryckman.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Mr. Ryckman.


MR. RYCKMAN:  That's all right.  Yes, I do recall the undertakings, the relief and the undertakings being changed, and there is a broader scope of what the company can undertake.


MR. WARREN:  Now, what I want to get at, Mr. Ryckman, is this.  During the currency of the GDSM program, including your testimony on the -‑ sorry, your colleague's testimony on the 17th of July, the argument that followed, in which counsel exchanged arguments on a question of the scope of the undertakings, no reference was ever made to the fact that Enbridge had sought a change in its undertakings.  Am I correct in that?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I would have to undertake to have a look at that.  I don't recall.


MR. WARREN:  Can you take it, subject to check, that Enbridge was silent on that throughout those proceedings?


MR. O'LEARY:  I believe that is unfair.  The witness says he doesn't know, and if Mr. Warren would like an undertaking to go back and see what was occurring at the time, we are prepared to do that, but I don't believe "subject to check" is an appropriate request.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Ryckman, at the time ‑‑ were you involved in any way in seeking a change in the undertakings?


MR. RYCKMAN:  No.


MR. WARREN:  Do you know who prepared ‑‑ was there an application to the Minister seeking this directive?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I wasn't involved in that process, at all, so I can't really speak to the details of how that ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  Were you aware at the time you gave your testimony that the process was under way?


MR. RYCKMAN:  To seek relief in the undertakings?


MR. WARREN:  Yes.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  You were aware of it?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me, for how long had the process been under way prior to July 17th when you and your colleague, Mr. Brophy, gave your testimony?


MR. RYCKMAN:  No, I couldn't.


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me whether the issuance of the Minister's directive has changed and, if so, in what ways, the delivery of electric ‑‑ sorry, services to the electric LDCs?


MR. RYCKMAN:  It hasn't changed.  We are still operating under the decision that was granted in the 2006 rate case, and it has also been carried forward in the 2007 generic hearing, and that is the framework that we are operating.  So we haven't changed that as a result of any change in the undertakings.


MR. WARREN:  Is it ‑‑ I presume, Mr. Ryckman, having sought this change in its undertakings, that Enbridge proposes to change the way it delivers the program services to -- services or programs to electric LDCs; is that fair?


MR. RYCKMAN:  We haven't considered the implications of the change in the undertakings and the way we are delivering the CDM initiative at this time, at all.  We haven't entertained the idea or contemplated any change.


MR. WARREN:  All right.  Am I to understand from that last answer, Mr. Ryckman, that Enbridge undertook the exercise of applying to the Minister for a change in the undertakings, the undertakings were changed by Order In Council dated August 10th - that's some five months ago - and that since the issuance of that Order In Council, that the company hasn't contemplated how the delivery of programs will change as a result of the Order In Council?  That seems a remarkable position to me, Mr. Ryckman.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Well, it is not really a remarkable position when you consider we were involved in a generic hearing for the summer, and then we had to develop assumptions for that generic hearing to get those approved.  Then we had to develop a three‑year plan.


So I don't find it surprising, at all, that we haven't had a chance to contemplate what that might mean.


MR. WARREN:  Is it likely, moving on to the ‑‑ that the delivery of programs or services to electric LDCs will change as a result of the issuance of the directive?


MR. RYCKMAN:  I haven't contemplated that, so I can't answer that.  I have no idea.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if I could ask you to return to Exhibit K5.1.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  The gross revenue figure of $1.45 million, is there anywhere in the evidence a breakdown of the sources of that gross revenue?


MR. RYCKMAN:  No, there is not.


MR. WARREN:  Is there any way, any evidence on the record, by which the Board can assess the accuracy of that gross revenue figure by looking at objective data?


MR. RYCKMAN:  In this case, there is no evidence in the record, but those revenues form part of our overall financials, and those financials are audited and audited by an external party.  So to the extent that they are verified through that process, they are confirmed, in my opinion.


MR. WARREN:  Is there evidence in the record in this case that breaks down the line item 2, which is material and service costs of $999,000?


MR. RYCKMAN:  No, there is not.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  Just returning, I apologize, Mr. Ryckman, to line 1, gross revenue.


As I understood the position of the company in the GDSM case and as reflected if the Board's decision, all of the revenue was derived under contracts with electric LDCs; is that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Are the contracts with the LDCs, electric LDCs, anywhere in the record in this case?


MR. RYCKMAN:  One agreement that we have with Toronto‑Hydro is not on the record in this case.  It was filed confidentially, I believe, in the 2006 case.  The other contracts have not been filed.


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me, in relation to the $1.45 million, the percentage of that revenue which is derived from the Toronto Hydro contract?


MR. RYCKMAN:  No, I can't tell you that specifically.  I can tell you that about 80 percent of that revenue is achieved through the TAPS program, but I don't have a breakdown with me of where that is attributed to.  


MR. WARREN:  Is the TAPS program exclusively with Toronto Hydro?  


MR. RYCKMAN:  I would think -- well, just a ballpark, if that helps at all, I would think that out of the 1.4 million, you've got about 1.2 million that's related to TAPS.  And you probably got something a little under half of that that is related to Toronto Hydro, thereabouts.  


MR. WARREN:  Line item 3, the internal resource cost.  Is there ever evidence in the record, Mr. Brophy, that breaks out the number of hours spent by Enbridge -- first of all, is all of this time spent by Enbridge DSM staff?  


MR. RYCKMAN:  All of -– it’s representative of the time that Enbridge staff spent on these programs, yes.  


MR. WARREN:  Is it all DSM staff?  


MR. RYCKMAN:  No.  It is -- a portion of that is DSM.  And a portion is, a small portion, about 15 percent, is O&M.  


MR. WARREN:  Now, is the -- is there anywhere, any evidence in the record which breaks down the number of hours, the hourly rate and by whom those, by whom that time is spent?  


MR. RYCKMAN:  No, there is not.  


MR. WARREN:  And is that -- I think you said this before, Mr. Ryckman, and correct me if I’m wrong, that you determine you allocate those costs on an incremental and not fully allocated basis?  


MR. RYCKMAN:  Correct.  In 2006 it is on an incremental basis.  2007 forward it is on a fully allocated cost basis.  


MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  Can I turn, then, to the third of the deferral accounts which is the, I will call it the GDAR account, if I can.  


Now, can you, panel members, whoever feels comfortable in answering this, can you give me just a brief, very brief because I appreciate there is a long history to this, a brief overview of what GDAR is and what it will be when it is up and running.  


MR. McGILL:  Brief overview?  Well, GDAR, I guess -- GDAR originated out of the market design task force.  And at that time the premise was that the utility's rates would become fully unbundled and that at that time, it was only the end customer that could purchase gas distribution services from the utilities.  


So the reason the distribution access rule is called an access rule was, it was originally designed to open up access to distribution services to parties other than end users.  So gas marketers, customer agents, businesses of that type.  


And it evolved out of that.  And what happened was the market didn't evolve the way the design task force thought it would, and we didn't end up unbundling distribution services to the extent contemplated back in the late 1990s.  


So the rule continued to develop.  There are, I think, two main aspects to it.  One has to do with customer mobility across marketers, and that gives rise to the requirements in the rule with respect to the service transaction requests.  They are designed to give customers more mobility from one supplier to another or from utility supply to marketer supply.



Then the other aspect of the rule has to deal with, essentially, services that the utilities are required to provide to the gas marketers.  So things like distributor consolidated billing, vendor consolidated billing, the IVA transaction that has been spoken to, to some extent, in this evidence.  


MR. WARREN:  Now, when is -- I may get this wrong, Mr. McGill, but GDAR is essentially a systems-driven service; is that right?  


MR. McGILL:  GDAR has a significant impact on the company's business processes and the computer systems that support those processes.  


So I wouldn't quite agree with that characterization, but it is more the impact on the way we conduct business and the tools we use to facilitate that activity.  


MR. WARREN:  The services that GDAR will make available to customers and to the gas marketers will be available when?  


MR. McGILL:  Right now, the 2007 GDAR requirements, which pertain primarily to the service transaction requests that support customer mobility and choice are targeted to be implemented this June.  


MR. WARREN:  Is that a realistic timeline, Mr. McGill, in light of where we sit today?  


MR. McGILL:  Yes, yes, it is. 


MR. WARREN:  So as of June of this year individual customers will be able to access the GDAR services in order, if they want to change from Mr. O'Leary's gas service to Mr. Bourke's gas service; is that right?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.  They will be able to initiate what are called service transaction requests with the utility that would cause the customer to switch suppliers, let's say, or stop service from one supplier.  


MR. WARREN:  That is one aspects of the GDAR service.  The other aspect of the GDAR service will be available when?  


MR. McGILL:  Well, the other GDAR requirements pertain mainly to expanding the billing options that are available for marketers from what we have today, which is distributor consolidated billing.  


Right now, those requirements are to be accommodated in 2008, January 2008.  The company, in last year's proceeding, we explained that in order to accommodate those requirements in the existing customer computer systems, we would be incurring a cost probably on the order of $20 million to $30 million.  


We have a project underway right now to replace those computing systems, and that if we go ahead with that and integrate the GDAR requirements into that, then we could avoid spending that amount of money on the old systems, the $20 million to $30 million, knowing that those systems only have a useful life of another two to two-and-a-half years.  


So we never got a clear confirmation from the Board that we were going to get any kind of relief from the January 2001 implementation date for the 2008 GDAR requirements, and the company – I’ve got a copy of the letter here, it's part of our evidence - sent a letter to the Board dated August 18th, 2006, whereby we requested clarification on that point.  Specifically, we wanted some kind of affirmation that we would not have to accommodate the 2008 GDAR requirements until we implemented the new customer information system in 2009.  


MR. WARREN:  All of that, thank you for that, Mr. McGill.  What I am trying to ultimately get to is you are seeking recovery of $7.9 million. 


MR. McGILL:  Yes.  


MR. WARREN:  And that is all in the nature of capital.  Is that correct?  


MR. McGILL:  Yes.  


MR. WARREN:  And is some of that -- can you break down that according to what is going to be used and useful in 2007 and what is going to be used and useful in 2008?  


MS. SARNOVSKY:  All of the costs recorded in that deferral account are for the 2007 requirements.  None of it has to do for 2008.  


MR. WARREN:  Now, just a couple of questions on the details.  If you turn up the second page of Exhibit K5.1, panel.  Sorry to burden you with this, Mr. McGill, but can you -- because your memory is much better than mine -- EnTRAC.  Remind me what EnTRAC is.  


MR. McGILL:  EnTRAC is a computer system that is largely an interface between the company and gas marketers, and it is the vehicle by which gas marketers flow customer direct purchase transactions to the company.  


So when a marketer signs up customers, the notice to the company of that is conveyed to us through EnTRAC.  There is a process built into that system to confirm whether or not the customer is contracted with another marketer, or not.  There is a confirmation of account numbers.  There is an exchange of data, and if all of the edit tests are successful, then that customer's account goes under the cue to be posted to a direct purchase contract.  And typically gas starts to flow under that contract, the billing arrangement usually changes over to distributor consolidated billing.  

The marketers can also post price changes through EnTRAC.  They can make corrections to prices, things like that, through EnTRAC.  So it is a vehicle that allows them to communicate those business transactions back and forth to Enbridge Gas Distribution.






MR. WARREN:  Is EnTRAC a service which is available to, for example, residential consumers, as well as large volume consumers?


MR. McGILL:  No.  It would be available to gas marketers and large volume customers.


Residential customers get the benefit out of EnTRAC via their gas marketers.  That is what enables them to choose different suppliers in the marketplace.


MR. WARREN:  Of the $7.9 million for which you seek recovery, are those costs for systems which will deliver benefits, albeit directly or indirectly, to all sizes of customers, or are some of them for large volume customers exclusively?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  The systems‑related costs, whether it be EnTRAC systems-related or some of the billing systems, would be for all customers, both mass market and large volume customers.


MR. WARREN:  Two final questions, panel.  A substantial ‑‑ you can quarrel with my use of that modifier if you wish, please do, but it would appear that a substantial portion of the GDAR costs are consulting costs; is that fair?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Were those consulting contracts tendered?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  With respect to the EnTRAC systems changes, that contract was not tendered, the reason being that about 40 percent of the existing EnTRAC application was going to need to be modified as a result of GDAR requirements.


This was a customized application.  We did go through an RFP process initially to award the contract to our contractor.  From a timing standpoint, the requirements of GDAR were so extensively changed since our -- the initial GDAR rule was put out in December of 2002, so the magnitude of the change was a lot higher.  


So from a timing standpoint, the time lines were aggressive to have to implement the dates as per the Board's prescribed date.  There really wasn't time to go through and ramp up a new service provider


MR. McGILL:  So the situation was is that EnTRAC was partially built.  As the GDAR requirements became better known, the contractor that was building EnTRAC for us, that had been selected through an RFP process, basically expanded the scope of their work on the EnTRAC project in order to build the necessary components in order to accommodate GDAR.


MR. WARREN:  There was a consultant for EnTRAC, but there was a consultant for other aspects of the work, as well, the inner work; is that right?


MR. McGILL:  There are other contractors that have taken part in this, yes.


MR. WARREN:  My question was:  With respect to those other consultant contracts, were the other ones tendered?


MR. McGILL:  No, they weren't. 


MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  My final question for you, panel, on GDAR, is with respect to the recovery of costs.  There is reference in the evidence to something called IVA.  That, I take it, is a mechanism by which some costs may be recovered from marketers; is that correct?


MR. McGILL:  The nature of the IVA - and I guess it is called an invoice vendor adjustment ‑ that is something that wasn't contemplated in GDAR itself, and it's something that came about through the Electronic Business Transaction Rules workshops that were conducted by the Ontario Energy Board.


Gas marketers felt a need to be able to post sort of one‑time adjusting amounts to our bills.  So in the case of a customer, let's say, that had been on distributor consolidated billing for a period of time, let's say at 20 cents a cubic metre, and the marketer found out after the fact - several months later, let's say - that the price should have been 25 cents.  They could go in and post a one‑time adjustment to our bill.


The other thing the marketers would like to be able to do is if they're offering, let's say, a $25 rebate if a customer signs a contract, that they could pass that rebate back to the customer as a credit on our bill.  So it is like a one‑time, one single line item dollar amount that the marketer could post onto our bill.


MR. WARREN:  Do I take it, from that, Mr. McGill, that the IVA will not be a mechanism by which Enbridge will be able to recapture some portion of the expenditures on GDAR from marketers; is that right?


MR. McGILL:  Well, we have a proposal with respect to what we would charge gas marketers for the use of that IVA billing item.  That fee is designed to recover the costs associated with posting that extra line item onto the bill.


So some of the costs relate to the GDAR implementation.


MR. WARREN:  I take it none of the 7.9 ‑‑ $7,900,000 in costs, that will be recovered from Enbridge's ratepayers and not from marketers; is that fair?


MR. McGILL:  It's our proposal to clear this amount through to rate base, and it would be recovered from customers as opposed to marketers.


MR. WARREN:  My final question, panel, briefly is with respect to the unbundled rate implementation cost deferral account, which is the acronym which is URICDA, I think.  These questions are asked on behalf of very senior counsel in Ottawa who is, as we speak, pulling my chains on this to make sure that I ask the right questions.


I put to you, counsel, I will never be back, so that is the positive side of it.


 This amount, four-hundred-and-eighty-thousand-point-five, is what you are seeking to recover; is that right?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And do I have it right that these are costs associated with making available to large volume consumers these new rate categories; is that right?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And the costs are -- are the costs the costs of migrating from one rate class to another; is that a fair way to put it?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Not for this particular deferral account, no.  This deferral account captures the implementation costs only, so the development of a manual tracking mechanism for these new rates and services as opposed to customer migration costs.  I believe that is subject to another account.


MR. WARREN:  There is a different account for this?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Yes.  Now, my note of your testimony, Ms. Sarnovsky was that the costs vary with customer numbers.  Did I get that right?


MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  And can you tell me how many customers have taken advantage of these new rates?


MR. KACICNIK:  So far, eleven customers have committed to migrate to Rate 300.  One customer started taking service on January 1st, 2007.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I guess the dislocation which ‑‑ or the contrast which strikes senior counsel in Ottawa is that it would cost the better part of $500,000 to set up accounts for 11 customers.  Does that not seem an extraordinary amount of money for that?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KACICNIK:  That amount is reasonable and is in line with the forecast that we provided in the NGEIR generic proceeding.  We should keep in mind that this tool is a market-enabling tool and provides customers with an increased choice.


MR. WARREN:  I understand that there are arguments that there are benefits associated with it.  I am just looking at the costs, and for 11 customers, I see -- looking at the second page of K5.1, I see that we have $284,000 spent to augment a manual solution for 11 customers.  Is it anything more than just a spreadsheet, panel?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  It is a little more ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  I would hope so, it's a little more.


MS. SARNOVSKY:  It is.  It is more than just spreadsheets.  We tried to automate as best as possible so we didn't have to have employees inputting hourly meter reading data and whatnot, because that just gets it subject to error.  We are taking large volumes.  We are talking large potential dollar amounts.  So it is more automated than just simple spreadsheets.


But, I mean, back to your question, Mr. Warren, I mean, the costs that we had provided as part of the NGEIR proceeding were in line with operating a manual solution for up to 20 customers.  We just haven't reached that 20 customers, but there is nothing out of line.  That was known at the time of the NGEIR hearing.



MR. WARREN:  Panel, when I look at the second page of Exhibit K5.1, am I looking at the sum total of the breakdown of the information about the URICDA account in this case?  That's it?  


MS. SARNOVSKY:  In terms of the magnitude of costs are you speaking?  


MR. WARREN:  Yes.  


MS. SARNOVSKY:  These are the balances as at December 31st, 2006.  There are some additional costs.  The focus of getting these requirements up and running was to satisfy the customer that we had coming online January 1st, 2007.  


The NGEIR decision itself was released in November of 2006.  If you will recall, Rate 316 was still -- had not been settled.  So we haven't done any of the work within this manual tool to account for Rate 316 yet, so there is some further work that needs to be done.  That service is not available to be offered until July 1st, 2007.  So our focus was just on the January 1st requirement.  So there are additional costs still to come.  


MR. WARREN:  The universe of customers, this is going to be charged to large-volume customers.  How many, in total, large-volume customers will bear the brunt of this?  


MR. KACICNIK:  There is roughly 2,600 large-volume customers in the system.  


MR. WARREN:  And they will bear, according to whatever the allocation formula is, their portion of these amounts; is that right?  


MR. KACICNIK:  That's correct.  All of the large-volume customer will be allocated the same amount.  


MR. WARREN:  Even though only 11 of them have taken advantage of it?  


MR. KACICNIK:  That's correct, and the reason for that is that this is a market enabling tool that increases customer choice and this kind of allocation is consistent with Board principle for system or service implements of the market enabling and provide increase customer choice.  


MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Buonaguro, do you have any questions?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. Buonaguro:  


MR. BUONAGURO:  My questions relate only to GDAR.  And I only have a couple.  I sent the company an excerpt from Union's last case.  I don't know if the Board has a copy.  It shows a particular way of breaking down the GDAR costs.  Does the panel have that?  It was page 11 of 12 of what I sent you.  


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes, we do.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you able to provide us with a similar breakdown?  


MS. SARNOVSKY:  We can certainly provide the costs relating to the January 2007 in-service dates and, in fact, those costs are already in evidence.  


With respect to the bill-ready service that is included as line item 3, there, that's a 2008 requirement.  And I don't believe we have an estimate of those costs at this point.  


MR. McGILL:  No, we don't.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So can you provide a table, is that something for an undertaking?  Or are you proposing to do it on the fly, as it were?  


MR. SARNOVSKY:  The total costs, if you look at line items 1 and 2, line item 2 is -- which is for the benefit of the parties in the room who don't have this is ABC service for large volume customers.  Union had not offered that service previously, but is required as part of GDAR for January 1st.  That is a service we already offered.  So we don't have any incremental costs for that.  


So all of our costs related to being compliant for January 2007 are as filed which was initially 11.5 million, then subsequently increased when the Board delayed the implementation of GDAR to June 1st, 2007.  So our total costs, then, would be $13.4 million.  Keeping in mind that Union's numbers here don't reflect any additional costs to, of the deferral.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think -- on the line 2, ABC service for large volume -- just to confirm, you said there is no incremental cost. 


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Not for Enbridge. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Not for Enbridge. 


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Not for Enbridge, no. 


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Buonaguro, can we give this an exhibit number before we go any further. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure. 


MR. MILLAR:  K5.2.    


EXHIBIT NO. K5.2:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "ABC SERVICE FOR 


LARGE-VOLUME CUSTOMERS"


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I just have a few questions about allocation.  And I think you have already said that the, all the costs are capitalized and that would include all the consulting costs?  


MS. SARNOVSKY:  That's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Could you describe how they're allocated to the rate classes, in general.  


MR. KACICNIK:  Yes.  Mr. Culbert, to my left, he will discuss the rate base that will change the return, income taxes and he will also calculate depreciation.  


As far as return on rate base and income taxes go, they will be allocated, the income taxes associated with the GDAR component, they will be allocated to the customer rate classes based on the rate base allocator and depreciation will be allocated based on the total customer numbers.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So that's sort of a basic allocation across the system as though it were just a generic cost?  


MR. KACICNIK:  Yes.  When GDAR costs are close to rate base, this is how they will flow through our fully allocated cost study.  If you look at the rate base allocation factor, it is around 90 percent, it flows to the general service customers.  And if you look at the total customers' allocation factor, I believe it is around 98 percent that will flow to the general service customer.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  So there is nothing special, I guess, about the cost driver in this case.  It is just because it is going to rate base, you use your rate base allocation?  


MR. KACICNIK:  Yes.  I would tend to agree.  There is three steps in the cost allocation study.  The first step is the functional relation study where we group costs in different baskets, functions that the company needs to perform to provide service to customers.  


For example, the company has to buy commodity for system gas customers, so such costs go into commodity bucket.  The company needs to transport volumes for both system and direct purchase customers, so transportation-related costs go in that bucket. Storage-related costs go into storage bucket.  Gas distribution system costs go into the system bucket, and customer accounting costs, you know, billing, customer support, things like that, go into customer accounting bucket.  


In the second step, which is called classification, if we look at the cost vary with volumes, capacity, or customer numbers.  And in the third step, allocation, we use an appropriate allocation factor to allocate the costs from classified costs to customer rate classes.  For example, commodity costs would be allocated on system sales volumes.  Capacity costs would be allocated on peak day demand and customer related costs would be allocated based on customer numbers.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  So could you give me that detail as it relates specifically to GDAR?  


MR. KACICNIK:  Yes.  GDAR would be functionalized to customer accounting.  Customer accounting costs do vary with customer numbers.  And therefore, depreciation associated with GDAR would be allocated to customer rate classes based on customer numbers.  


Now, return on rate base and income taxes associated with GDAR component would be allocated to customer rate classes based on the rate base allocator.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Which is what you started with.  I think your answer started with that.  Thank you.  


Really I only have one other question, it has to do with an update that you provided.  It appears at D1, tab 10, schedule 1 and paragraph 5 which refers to, I think you actually made reference to the August 18th, 2006 letter you sent to the Board.  The Board issued a response, as I understand it, extending the invitation of the GDAR rule for a period of five months to June 1st, 2007.   You say, and I am quoting now from that reference:  

"EGD is currently in the process of assessing the impact of this proposed change on all aspects of the project, including implementation costs.  To the extent that this assessment results in changes to the implementation plan and costs, EGD will file evidence to reflect the changes."


MS. SARNOVSKY:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there any evidence in the record?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  Yes.  If you can turn to Exhibit D1, tab 10, schedule 2, and specifically paragraph 3, we provide an update in terms of the costs of the five‑month deferral, which increased our original cost forecast from $11-1/2 million to $13.4 million.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there any new updates from the point of time that this was filed --


MS. SARNOVSKY:  No.


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- that we should be aware of?


MS. SARNOVSKY:  No.  $13.4 million is our forecast right now.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Great.  Thank you very much.


MR. McGILL:  There is just one thing I wanted to point out with respect to the Union Gas reference, and that is that the figures quoted on page 11 of that Union exhibit only speak to going-forward GDAR implementation costs at the time that this exhibit was filed.


And if you go back to some of these earlier parts of that document, specifically on page 2, they speak to another amount of 4.78 million in capital and a further 1.3 million in operating costs that had already been incurred prior to the 18.2 in total that is referred to back on page 11.


So if you take that additional 6.1 million into account and add it on to the numbers that are on page 11, dealing with their 2007 readiness, they're either coming in at about 13.1 million, which is comparable to our 13.4, and then if you add in the additional, I think it is 2-1/2 million, for them to accommodate vendor ‑‑ pardon me, distributor consolidated billing for their large volume customers, they are adding another 2-1/2 million on top of that 13.1.  So they're over 15 million in total compared to our 13.4 to get to the same place where we will be in June.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, that's helpful.  Just to be clear, I didn't put that to you to compare the actual amounts.  I was more looking at the form of the presentation, but that is helpful.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I will be brief.  


Let me start with the Alliance/Vector.  Mr. Culbert, as I understand the essence of your rationale behind recovering these costs from the ratepayers, it is that if you legitimately challenge a Board decision, you should be able to fully recover that amount.  


You have to test whether the challenge is a legitimate one, but assuming you pass that test, then it should be a ratepayer cost; right?


MR. CULBERT:  Well, our view, based on the Board's findings in the last year's decision, was that we have met numerous of their tests, one of which is that there needs to be a presumption that the grounds were reasonable, that the costs incurred were reasonable, et cetera, and basically we view the fact that the Divisional Court upheld our appeal, that that remitted the matter of rate‑setting back to the Ontario Energy Board; and, therefore, it becomes a cost of regulation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I assume it is also the company's view that if ratepayers were to challenge a Board decision and pass the same test, that the company would agree that that should be included in rates and they should be reimbursed for that cost; correct?


MR. CULBERT:  I would assume that the Board, within its discretion, has opportunity to grant recoveries of intervenors for motions, motions for review, et cetera, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking the question:  Does the company agree that it is appropriate for the ratepayers to be reimbursed for that cost?


MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry, is the question whether or not the Board has jurisdiction to award costs for court proceedings; is that it, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.


MR. O'LEARY:  If it is, I thought that might be a legal question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, it is not a legal position.  I'm asking the company's position.  The company's position is if you go to court and you have a legitimate appeal -- whether you win or lose, if you have a legitimate appeal, then that should be included in rates, that costs should be included in rates.  You should be able to recover it from the ratepayers.


I am asking whether what is sauce for the goose is sauce for the gander, if the ratepayers go to court; same thing applies.  Is that correct?


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, our objection, Mr. Chair, is that it comes down to whether the Board has jurisdiction to order costs in respect of a proceeding before the courts.


MR. KAISER:  No, I don't think that is Mr. Shepherd's question.  Assume the Board has jurisdiction.  His question is:  Should this principle apply regardless of who the appellant is?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, in that case, I would agree.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Let me just ask a couple of brief questions.  Actually, let me go back to the CO2 credit account, because I don't want to leave it out.  As I understand it, this account is an account you are asking to set up in order that if you receive any money in 2007 for climate change offset credits - whether you earn them in 2007 or not, if you receive it in 2007 - that money goes into that account for the Board to determine later what happens to it;  is that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  That's my understanding, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's all about that.


Then let me turn to EPESDA.  As I understand what you said, the material you have on page 1 of Exhibit K5.1 is -- these are calculations based on incremental costs?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the decision in the generic hearing was that starting in 2007, you will have to do this calculation based on fully allocated costs?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I take it that in 2006, you wouldn't have made any money if you had used fully allocated costs; is that right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  We haven't done that analysis, but I wouldn't expect that to be true.  The reason I say that is the way the model is set up, we leverage third parties, channel partners, to a great extent.  So there isn't -- even if you look at the amounts here, there isn't a significant internal burden that is placed on the organization, anyway.  


So I wouldn't expect that number to go up dramatically, quite frankly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Don't you spend a lot of money on channel management?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Don't we spend a lot of money on channel management?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a whole group of people whose responsibility is to look after your channels; right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.  On the DSM side, we have people who look after that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And on the sales side, fuel switching and things like that, you have a lot of people who do that; right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So wouldn't some part of that cost, then, have to be allocated to this activity?


MR. RYCKMAN:  A small portion of this 102 is allocated to O&M, as I stated before.  So about 15 percent is O&M.  The balance is DSM.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood, but that 15 percent is because you did it on an incremental basis; right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are just testing how much more 

-- how much more did we have to spend in order to do this electricity stuff; right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  That is the cost of generating net revenue in 2006, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, I will leave that.


The revenue line on that is -- this is fees you charge to the electric LDCs; right?


MR. RYCKMAN:  It is fees that we charge to the utilities for conservation and demand management, conservation programs, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How many customers do you have in this?  Not your customers, I mean LDC customers.


MR. RYCKMAN:  Subject to check, about six; five or six.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand, from previous discussions with you when you were testifying, that the company is reluctant to talk about what the fees actually are, right, because that would ‑‑


MR. RYCKMAN:  I'm sorry, three customers that we have.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Three customers?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I understand that you are reluctant to say how much you are charging particular customers, because that would put you at a competitive disadvantage?


MR. RYCKMAN:  Certainly going into the details of the revenues and costs would put us at a disadvantage in trying to procure future business, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will respect that, but I would like to explore one thing about that, and that is, in the calculation of your fees or the negotiation of your fees for any of these activities, is the amount of the SSM that the LDC will earn from these activities -- is that either part of the calculation or part of the negotiation?  


MR. RYCKMAN:  No it is not.  It is purely a fee for service. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are setting these fees by building up your cost and adding a margin; is that fair?  


MR. RYCKMAN:  That's fair.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  This business is expanding, I assume?  


MR. RYCKMAN:  I wouldn't say that with great certainty.  Certainly business that we had in 2006, those contracts some of those contracts were for 2006 only and they don't continue beyond 2006.  Also funding for the LDCs basically expires in September of this year, and it is uncertain what sort of funding will be coming through the OPA and how that will be administered this time.  So although we would like it to expand, I can't say with certainty it will.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  This million-four-fifty that you have in revenues, this is monies that the LDCs, I think in every case, would be taking out of their third tranche spending; right?  


MR. RYCKMAN:  Yes.  The revenue would have to come out of their conservation and demand management accounts.  And they would have to justify those expenditures on their end, yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn to URICDA.  I love these acronyms.  


I take it that, from what you said about cost allocation you have 2,600 customers and $480,000.  So I assume that means each one is going to bear $184 of this cost; is that right?  


MR. KACICNIK:  That's correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not more complicated that than that. 


MR. KACICNIK:  No.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  That 2,600 customers includes Rate 100. 


MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, it does. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  How many of them are Rate 100, the 2,600 is mostly Rate 100?  


MR. KACICNIK:  If you give me a minute, I will give you an approximate number.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn't need to be exact, I just want to get a sense of whether we are talking about half, or three-quarters or ...


MR. KACICNIK:  Roughly 2,000 out of 2,600 are Rate 100 customers.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the eleven people who have migrated so far, are any of them Rate 100?  


MR. KACICNIK:  Out of the eleven that have committed to migrate, ten of those are Rate 100 and one is Rate 110 customer.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  The other one is rate?  


MR. KACICNIK:  Rate 110.  


MR. SHEPHERD: 110.  Okay, excellent.  You said that this number 480,000 is the number to December 31st.  Do you have an estimate of what the -- the rest of it is going to Be, the additional amount is going to be?  


MS. SARNOVSKY:  The estimate is somewhere between 150 and $200,000.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then last but not least, and this may be brief, on GDAR.  


Is some part of the GDAR cost allocated to Rate 6?  


MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, yes, it would be.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know how much that is?  


MR. KACICNIK:  No, I would need to run that through the fully allocated cost study to get an estimation, because here we are dealing with rate base components and depreciation.  Like I wouldn't try to calculate it here on the stand.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  We could go to your cost allocation tables, the G or something like that.  I think they're the G.  We could go there, look at what percentage rate base is allocated to Rate 6, that would give you the right number; right? 


MR. KACICNIK:  First we need to know what the impact would be on the return on taxes, right, and depreciation from closing GDAR costs into rate base.  Maybe Kevin Culbert can speak to that.  


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  I guess what Mr. Kacicnik is referring to is the revenue requirement impact that will result from the inclusion of these amounts into rate base.  


We don't have a precise number per se.  The amount in question right now is approximately $700,000 to a million dollars of deficiency impact, but that is based on the current capital structure that's before the Board, et cetera.  Were there any changes to that capital structure as a result of changes in equity thickness, et cetera, the numbers would change somewhat from the current estimates of $700,000 to a million dollars. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I was actually being a lot more simplistic than that because that is way too complicated for me.  $8 million of capital costs, you have to allocate rate base to the various classes.  And there is an allocator, it's like 16 or 18 or 20 percent that goes to Rate 6, something in that range.  


MR. KACICNIK:  Yes.  Like you could estimate the impact by taking $1 million and looking at the allocation factors and see. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking for impact.  I am just asking for allocation of rate base.  


MR. KACICNIK:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Allocation of rate base is whatever it is for the other rate base, this would be allocated the same way. 


MR. KACICNIK:  Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then whatever the impact is -- let's not worry about what that actually is, but whatever it is, it's allocated within the class, it is collected in rate design roughly half through the volumetric charge and roughly half through the fixed charge; is that right?  


MR. KACICNIK:  Are you asking specifically for Rate 6?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  


MR. KACICNIK:  Yes.  For Rate 6, a large proportion would be collected through delivery charges, which are volumetric charges. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  A large percentage?  


MR. KACICNIK:  Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you're a large Rate 6 customer - which, by chance, Schools are - then you would have a relatively -- you would bear a relatively large component of the costs of GDAR, right, relative to either a small, general-service customer or a small residential customer or regular residential customer.  Isn't that right?  


MR. KACICNIK:  The costs allocated to the rate classes are done on rate class average basis.  So if the Schools are larger than the class average you would recover more of these costs through Schools than an average rate, Rate 6 class customer.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- and just let me ask one more question about this.  


The rates within the class use a declining block structure for volume; right?  


MR. KACICNIK:  Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  But when you collect something like this, do you collect that using the same declining block structure?  Or is it collected with the same volume rate no matter how much your volume is, your unit rate?  


MR. KACICNIK:  Would you please repeat that question?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  When you collect your regular rates in Rate 6 for example you have declining block structure.  So if you are a higher volume structure your incremental cubic metres are a lower cost than your first ones; right?  


MR. KACICNIK:  Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  When you collect a variance account like this, is the same also true, that the volume component is collected.  As your volume gets up the incremental cost you are bearing is lower, or is it the same volume rate throughout?  


MR. KACICNIK:  I do not think that would apply here, because what we would do, we would allocate these costs to the rate classes, right, and then we would design unit rates which would recover the allocated costs.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  You would build them into the rates so the declining block structure would still apply, in effect?  


MR. KACICNIK:  Yes.  The declining block structure would not change.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's all.  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar.  


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair, I just have a few minutes of questions I think so it would probably make sense to try to finish this up.  And I don't think there is anyone else who has questions.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, panel, my name is Michael Millar I am counsel for Board Staff.  I would like to start with a couple of questions on the Alliance-Vector account.  


If I could ask you to turn to Exhibit D 1, tab 7, schedule 3, page 1.  


I think we can get that pulled up.  Yes, that's great.  First, you can't actually see at the top of the page – well, first just let me confirm we see the amount at line number 18, that's where we get the $529,000; is that correct?  


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  And this schedule was filed with the Board January 24th of this year; is that correct?  


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  And is that the first time that this number would have and on the record anywhere, the $529,000?  


MR. CULBERT:  Um -- I'm trying to think now.  That amount?  Presumably.  I'm trying to think whether it was filed as any part of QRAM applications where we showed deferral and variance account balances.  It may have been shown in a QRAM previously.  


MR. MILLAR:  But in this file, this is probably the first ‑‑ 


MR. CULBERT:  In this filing, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Just again to make sure I understand exactly what's in this account, these are all external legal bills?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And these are for two court proceedings.  One was a Court of Appeal proceeding; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  The second was a leave to appeal to the Supreme Court application?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  In fact, there may be three proceedings.  I'm not sure if they're split.  There was a leave seeking appeal to the Divisional Court by the OEB, and then the actual appeal with the Ontario Court of Appeal.  So there is probably three proceedings, actually.


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see.  Can you tell me what the status is of the leave to appeal to the Supreme Court file?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  The Supreme Court denied our appeal.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So there will be no more costs.  That's the end of the proceeding, I take it?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Of course this was all preceded by a case at the Divisional Court, was the initial ‑‑ the initial case was before the Divisional Court; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  The company initially appealed the Board's 2002 decision at the Divisional Court level; correct.


MR. MILLAR:  But those costs are not included in this deferral account?


MR. CULBERT:  They are not.


MR. MILLAR:  Was all of the legal work on these proceedings done by Fraser Milner Casgrain, is that ‑‑ that's the firm you retained to do this?


MR. CULBERT:  To my knowledge, yes.  All of the invoices that are in the account are Fraser Milner Casgrain, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I know that you are not seeking recovery for the Divisional Court case here, but was that also Fraser Milner?


MR. CULBERT:  From my recollection, I believe for the most part, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  If I could turn your attention to Exhibit D1, tab 7, schedule 1, page 2, paragraph 5, I think it is just more a matter of clarification.  I think we may require an update here, nothing to file, but you will see paragraph 5 says:   

"EGD has two outstanding accounting order requests of the Board."  


And the second one listed there is the 2006 Alliance/Vector appeal cost deferral account.  Can you confirm for me that you have now been granted that deferral account?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  We filed an application before the Board during the past year and were granted the deferral account by the Board.


MR. MILLAR:  So that just hadn't been updated, the paragraph 5?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  When that account was granted, I believe the file number was EB-2006‑0144.  I'm not going to take you to it, and I don't think it is on the record, but did you read that decision?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I did.


MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me that it established the deferral account, but it stated that the prudence of the expenditures would be reviewed upon disposition?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I would agree.


MR. MILLAR:  And the disposition stage is right now; would you agree?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, that is what we're requesting, disposition of the account.


MR. MILLAR:  Similarly, you took us to a passage from, I think it was the last Enbridge rates case.  I think paragraph 14.3.4, around there, you read some portions of that decision; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Generally, I think if I could summarize that, the point of it was that the Board felt that costs of an appeal could well be recovered from ratepayers, if I could summarize that; is that a fair summary?


MR. CULBERT:  A fair summary, yes.  The Board mentioned numerous aspects that it would consider in determining whether the costs were recoverable or not.  That is one paragraph that stated certain of the aspects, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  You would agree with me there is nothing in that decision that obviates the requirement that these costs be reasonable and prudent; is that fair?


MR. CULBERT:  That's fair.


MR. MILLAR:  And so you would agree with me and the company would agree that the costs have to be reasonable?


MR. CULBERT:  I would agree that the Board will review certain aspects to determine on its own whether the costs were reasonable or not, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  This isn't just a pass‑through.  The Board has to satisfy itself that the costs that were spent were prudently incurred and should be passed on to ratepayers?


MR. CULBERT:  As is true and as is a matter with each and every deferral account.


MR. MILLAR:  Absolutely.  Okay, thank you for that.


Now, as I understand it, the bulk of these costs were incurred for the Court of Appeal case.  If I heard you correctly, it was $445,000, approximately, for that?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, thereabouts, for two proceedings, actually, for the leave seeking appeal by the OEB and the appeal before the Ontario Court of Appeal, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  But that doesn't include the Supreme Court costs?


MR. CULBERT:  It does not.


MR. MILLAR:  Did you or anyone on the panel attend that appeal?


MR. CULBERT:  No, I did not.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you know how many days before the Court of Appeal -- how many days were spent before the Court of Appeal?


MR. CULBERT:  I don't have a number before me.  I could certainly undertake to provide that, but I do not have that number, no.


MR. MILLAR:  If I told you it was one day, would you have cause to disagree with that?


MR. CULBERT:  The appeal before the Ontario Court of Appeal?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MR. CULBERT:  I would be in your hands.  I would presume one day may be sufficient.  I'm not sure.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you happen to know how many lawyers were representing the company at that case?


MR. CULBERT:  No.  Again, I wasn't in attendance.  I don't know.


MR. MILLAR:  And I think Mr. Warren covered this with you before, but would you agree with me that aside from stating the bare number in that first schedule I took you to, there is nothing else on the record supporting that quantum?  There is nothing to back it up, aside from stating the number?


MR. CULBERT:  No, there are no details of hours or hourly rates or anything of that nature.  No, there are not.


MR. MILLAR:  I guess I will be frank here.  I'm having a little bit of difficulty.  It would seem to me that $450,000 is a little bit high for a one‑day Court of Appeal application.


Now, I understand, of course, that one day before the court doesn't mean your lawyers only spend one day on it.  There is a lot of work that goes into preparing these things, and I don't dispute that.  But it seems to me that $450,000 is a lot of money for a one-day appeal.  


Do you have anything to add that can help us in understanding why these costs appear to be as high as they are?


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, I don't want to interrupt, but just if my friend is going to put a question to the witness, it should be accurate in terms of factually, so we are talking about a leave application and the actual Court of Appeal.  


So there is, in essence, two proceedings, not just the one.


MR. MILLAR:  That's fair enough.  Thank you for that clarification, Mr. O'Leary.


MR. CULBERT:  I have no context to consider whether the amount is excessive for a one-day hearing.  I would presume there is a lot of preparation for legal matters of that matter, both for the leave seeking appeal and the appeal itself.


MR. MILLAR:  And you -- I think I heard, when Mr. Warren was examining you, you stated that you are not actually the one who reviews the legal bills with the ‑‑ with counsel; is that fair?


MR. CULBERT:  The majority -- all of the legal bills that come into the company would flow through the associate general counsel.  Eventually, the invoices that pertain to this proceeding would find their way into my department and I would in fact look at the invoices to determine that the hours and dates spent were sufficiently in the context of these proceedings.


MR. MILLAR:  Who is the associate general counsel?


MR. CULBERT:  His name is Mark Boyce.


MR. MILLAR:  He's not appearing as a witness in this proceeding, is he?


MR. CULBERT:  No, he's not.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  I just have a couple of questions now on a matter ‑‑ sorry, Mr. O'Leary, did you --


MR. O'LEARY:  We haven't ‑‑ we weren't proposing to call Mr. Boyce, but ‑‑


MR. MILLAR:  I don't necessarily have any more questions.  I was just -- actually, I was just curious if he was appearing.


MR. O'LEARY:  We haven't ruled it out, if necessary.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I wasn't planning on asking for him to appear, so I was just curious if he was going to be before us.  


I just have a couple of more questions.  I'm off Alliance/Vector now.  


On the next matter, I heard you mention in your examination-in‑chief - in fact, I can't recall exactly who it was - that the company is proposing the creation of a new deferral account, a CO2 credit account; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Is that anywhere in the prefiled evidence?  I didn't see it.  Did I miss it?


MR. CULBERT:  No, it wasn't.  That's what I mentioned at the outset.  It was an omission on my part, and the company is seeking the Board's approval from a previous decision where they ordered the establishment of the account.


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see.  Maybe you could do this by way of undertaking.  I guess I am just curious as to exactly -- we did hear what you said in your examination-in‑chief, but can you provide us with some more background or details about exactly what the purpose of that account is?  


Either you can try and have a stab at it now, but if you would prefer to do that as a take-away, that is fine, as well.  I guess we're just looking for a little bit more information on what goes into that, what would go into that deferral account.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Millar, if it would help, perhaps we could file as an exhibit in this proceeding a copy of page 43 of the decision with reasons out of the DSM generic proceeding, which I suggest is about all we can provide you as to what that deferral account would do.


MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  That would be fine.  Maybe we can give that an exhibit number now and we will produce copies.


MR. O'LEARY:  Sure.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be Exhibit K5.3.



EXHIBIT NO. K5.3:  COPY OF PAGE 43 OF EB-2006-0021 


GENERIC DSM DECISION WITH REASONS.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. O'Leary, what was the page number?


MR. O'LEARY:  It is page 43.


MR. MILLAR:  Page 43 of the decision.  What's the file number for the decision?


MR. O'LEARY:  EB-2006‑0021.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


Any re‑examination, Mr. O'Leary?


RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. O'LEARY:

MR. O'LEARY:  I just have a couple of questions.  First to you, Mr. Culbert.  The counsel that represented the company in respect of the leave application to the Court of Appeal and the Court of Appeal, FMC, Fraser Milner, have they represented the company before in proceedings before this Board?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, they have.


MR. O'LEARY:  Were they involved in the application where the Alliance/Vector costs were in fact disallowed?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, they were.


MR. O'LEARY:  Do you have any recollection of any of their costs being disallowed in respect of their representation of the company before this Board?


MR. CULBERT:  Not to my recollection.  I wasn't completely involved with the status, but not to my recollection, no. 

MR. O'LEARY:  And you are not aware of any situation where those costs were complained about by any of the parties to this proceeding?  At that time?  


MR. CULBERT:  No, I'm not.  


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  My final question, and this is in respect of the EPESDA, to you, Mr. Ryckman.  Could I ask you to turn up Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 46.  


MR. RYCKMAN:  Just one moment, please.  


MR. O'LEARY:  You will recall that you were asked a number of questions in the cross-examination by Mr. Warren on behalf of CCC.  Could I ask you whether or not in your response to Mr. Warren's client CCC, at interrogatory number 46, Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 46, whether or not they asked the company for a breakdown of the revenues and costs incurred in respect of the EPESDA activities?  


MR. RYCKMAN:  No, they did not.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Did they ask you for a breakdown of the hours spent by employees at Enbridge?  


MR. RYCKMAN:  No, they do not.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Did they ask for production, to the extent that you would be prepared to for the non-confidential portion, production of any of the contracts with the electric LDCs?  


MR. RYCKMAN:  No, they did not.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Sir, those are our questions.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Anything further Mr. Millar?  


MR. MILLAR:  No.  I think that concludes for today.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Thank you very much, panel.  We will adjourn until Monday, 9:30.  Thank you.  


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:55 p.m. 
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